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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF  
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED  
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate 
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other 
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be 
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should 
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The 
greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market 
more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that 
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility 
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that 
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no 
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its 
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any 
loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the 
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of UNIVERSE PRINTSHOP 
HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full 
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of 
giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the 
“Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the 
best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is 
accurate and complete in all material aspects and not misleading or deceptive, 
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement 
herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), I am pleased to present the annual report of the Company for the year 
ended 31 March 2019 (“FY2019”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in providing printing services to customers in Hong Kong. The printing services of the 
Group included offset printing, ink-jet printing and toner-based digital printing. Other than printing services, the Group also 
provided other services to customers, which included production of other printing-related products such as pre-ink stamps, 
plastic name-cards, printed eco-bags and printed plastic folders.

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$152.7 million for FY2019, representing an increase of approximately 7.1% 
as compared to the revenue of approximately HK$142.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 (“FY2018”). The Group 
achieved an increase in revenue as a result of an increase in overall demand. The Group’s gross profit margins decreased to 
approximately 18.6% for FY2019 from approximately 24.7% for FY2018. Such decrease in the Group’s gross profit margins 
was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in paper prices and subcontracting charges; and (ii) an one-off and temporary 
interruption in a production line for the setup of and staff training for the newly acquired six-colour offset press during the last 
quarter of FY2019. For FY2019, the Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$5.3 million, as compared to a net profit 
(before listing- related expenses) of HK$3.1 million for FY2018.

OUTLOOK

With keen competition and inflationary pressure on material prices and labour cost, the Group will continue to pay close 
attention on the market trend and cautiously tighten the control over operating expenses by ongoing review on the operation 
model to maintain our profitability and competitiveness in the market. The market size generated by companies with retail 
channel as a proportion of the business printing market in Hong Kong is expected to grow in the coming few years. 
Furthermore, the Group plans to (i) further develop its non-store sales by arranging more sales staff to promote our printing 
service to and serve its credit customers; (ii) enhance our range of products by use of a newly acquired six-colour offset 
press as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 18 October 2018 (the “Announcement”) in order to improve the 
Group’s service mix; and (iii) develop non-paper printing products to meet the increasing demand of the market.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Board, management and staffs for their strenuous contribution towards 
the Group. In addition, I would also like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank our business partners and shareholders for 
their continuous support and trust. I believe all members of the Group will dedicate their best efforts to drive business growth 
and to deliver enhanced returns to shareholders.

Mr. CHAU Man Keung
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 June 2019
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group for FY2019 was increased by HK$10.1 million or 7.1% to HK$152.7 million as compared to 
HK$142.6 million for FY2018. The increase in total revenue was mainly contributed by the increase in revenue from offset 
printing and ink-jet printing.

Offset printing continued to account for the largest share of the Group’s revenue. It generated HK$114.0 million or 74.6% of 
the Group’s total revenue, an increase of HK$6.2 million or 5.8% as compared to HK$107.8 million in FY2018 which was 
mainly attributable to the increase in the overall demand for our printing services and the increase in orders that were suited 
to using the offset printing technology.

The ink-jet printing generated revenues amounting to HK$24.0 million, representing an increase of HK$5.6 million or 30.7% 
as compared to HK$18.3 million in FY2018 which was mainly attributable to the increase in orders that were suited to using 
the ink-jet printing technology and the increase in average revenue per order for our ink-jet printing business.

Revenue from toner-based digital printing remained relatively stable in FY2018 and FY2019 amounted to HK$9.7 million and 
HK$9.5 million and contributed to 6.8% and 6.2% of our Group’s total revenue for FY2018 and FY2019, respectively.

Revenue from other services decreased from HK$6.8 million in FY2018 to HK$5.3 million in FY2019. Such decrease was 
mainly due to the decline in demand for pre-press design services.

Costs of sales

The cost of sales primarily consists of raw material cost, sub-contracting fee, manufacturing overhead and staff costs. The 
total cost of sales increased from HK$107.4 million in FY2018 to HK$124.4 million in FY2019, which was mainly attributable 
to the increase in paper prices and subcontracting charges. The increase in sub-contracting charges were mainly due to the 
fact that (i) the subcontractors charged us a higher fee as compared to FY2018; and (ii) more printing activities were 
subcontracted to sub-contractors in FY2019 as compared to FY2018. Raw material cost and subcontracting fee together 
accounted for 76.5% and 74.2% of our total cost of sales for FY2019 and FY2018, respectively.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group decreased from HK$35.2 million for FY2018 to HK$28.3 million for FY2019. The gross profit 
margin was decreased from 24.7% to 18.6% mainly due to (i) the increase in paper prices and subcontracting charges; and (ii) 
an one-off and temporary interruption in a production line for the setup of and staff training for the newly acquired six- colour 
offset press during the last quarter of FY2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses primarily comprise staff costs (including directors’ remuneration), legal and professional 
fee, IT development fee, auditors’ remuneration, rents and rates, depreciation, repair and maintenance, consultancy fee, 
utilities expenses, bank charges and other miscellaneous administrative expenses.

The selling and administrative expenses amounted to HK$35.9 million in FY2019, which represented a decrease of HK$8.4 
million as compared to HK$44.3 million in FY2018. The listing expenses in relation to the listing of the Company’s shares on 
GEM (the “Listing”) on 28 March 2018 recognised for FY2018 was HK$12.3 million. Excluding the listing expenses, the 
selling and administrative expenses for the FY2019 increased by HK$3.9 million as compared to that for FY2018, which was 
mainly attributable to (i) increase in staff cost of HK$2.1 million due to salary adjustment; and (ii) increase in expenses for 
compliance and reporting purposes after the Listing.

Loss for the year and attributable to owners of the Company

For FY2019, the Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$5.3 million, as compared to a net profit (before listing-
related expenses) of HK$3.1 million for FY2018. Such decrease was mainly attributable to (i) the decrease in gross profit as a 
result of the surging paper prices and subcontracting charges and an one-off and temporary suspension of a production line; 
and (ii) the increase in administrative expenses. The continuing fierce market competition made it difficult for the Group to 
pass on the increased costs to customers.

Inventories

The inventory balance of the Group consisted of (i) raw materials, such as paper, zinc printing plates and ink, (ii) work-in-
progress, (iii) finished goods and (iv) consumables stores, which mainly represented parts for the repair and maintenance of 
offset printing press. The inventory balance of the Group decreased to HK$3.3 million as at 31 March 2019 from HK$5.5 
million as at 31 March 2018. This is mainly due to the fact that while most of the retail stores of the Group were closed as at 
31 March 2018, the production site of the Group was still in operation during the Easter holidays, which took place from 30 
March to 2 April 2018, leading to the significant work in progress and finished goods that was kept by the Group as at 31 
March 2018. As at 31 March 2019, such situation did not happen as both the retail stores and the production site of the 
Group were open.

Trade and other receivables

The trade and other receivables of the Group increased from HK$14.1 million as at 31 March 2018 to HK$14.9 million as at 
31 March 2019 which was primarily due to the increase in other receivables.

The trade receivables (net of allowance for doubtful debts) of the Group decreased from HK$12.4 million as at 31 March 
2018 to HK$11.7 million as at 31 March 2019. The decrease was mainly due to the tightening of credit policies and improved 
collections on trade receivables.

The other receivables increased to HK$3.2 million as at 31 March 2019 from HK$1.8 million as at 31 March 2018. The 
increase was mainly due to the deposit paid for a leasehold improvement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

Cash and cash equivalents

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group significantly decreased from HK$68.2 million as at 31 March 2018 to HK$36.5 
million as at 31 March 2019. The decrease is mainly due to the settlement of listing expenses and the acquisition of the six-
colour offset press during the year.

Trade and other payables

The trade and other payables of the Group decreased from HK$36.2 million as at 31 March 2018 to HK$21.5 million as at 
31 March 2019. The decrease is mainly due to the settlement of listing expenses payable as at 31 March 2018 amounting to 
HK$10.2 million.

Tax payables

The tax payables of the Group decreased from HK$1.9 million as at 31 March 2018 to HK$0.6 million as at 31 March 2019. 
The decrease is mainly due to the settlement of income tax as at 31 March 2019 amounting to HK$1.7 million.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had net current assets of HK$30.1 million (FY2018: HK$48.4 million), of which the cash and 
cash equivalents were approximately HK$36.5 million (FY2018:HK$68.2 million). The Group’s current ratio is 2.19 (FY2018: 
2.23).

Total obligations under finance lease for the Group amounted to HK$2.6 million as at 31 March 2019 (FY2018: HK$3.5 
million). The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2019 was 0.05 (FY2018: 0.06) which is calculated on the basis of the Group’s total 
obligations under finance lease over the total equity. As at 31 March 2019, obligations under finance lease in the amounts of 
HK$1.2 million are due within one year while the amounts of HK$1.4 million are due after one year.

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group for FY2019.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019 (FY2018: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had capital commitments of HK$2.5 million for acquisition of printing system and 
accounting software. As at 31 March 2018, the Group had capital commitments representing acquisition of accounting 
software but not provided for of HK$0.1 million.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

There was no significant investments held as at 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of associates, joint ventures or subsidiaries during FY2019.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Since the Group’s business activities are solely operated in Hong Kong and mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, the 
Directors consider that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is insignificant.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various types of risks, including operational risks, market risks, liquidity 
risks, credit risks and regulatory risks. The following highlights some of the risks which are considered material by our 
Directors:

The business is subject to fluctuation of purchase costs for raw materials and staff costs

The profitability of the Group depends on the control of cost of production and ability to anticipate and respond to 
fluctuations in purchase costs of raw materials. The availability and costs of our principal raw materials may change due to 
factors beyond our control such as policies of the government, economic conditions and market competition. In addition, as 
the labour costs in Hong Kong continue to increase in recent years, the salary level of employees has generally increased as 
well. The operation and financial performances may be adversely affected if there is any significant increase in staff costs.

Rely on sub-contractors who are printing service providers and their failure to meet our 
requirements may materially and adversely affect our business and reputation

The Group sub-contract certain production procedures and printing services to sub-contractors who are printing service 
providers. It cannot be assured that the management can monitor the performance of the sub-contractors as directly and 
effectively as monitoring the staff members of the Group. In case the sub-contractors fail to meet the deadlines or required 
standards, the business and reputation of the Group may be adversely affected.

In addition, if the sub-contractors are in breach of any laws, rules or regulations in matters such as health and safety, 
environment and employment, they may be subject to prosecution and unable to perform the work of the Group. The Group 
may then have to locate and appoint another sub-contractor for replacement at additional cost, which lowers the profit 
margin of the Group.

We may face shortage in supply of our raw materials

To deliver printing services with fast turnaround time and meet the expectation of customers, the Group has to be able to 
procure raw materials in a timely manner. The Group did not enter into any long-term contract with the suppliers. There is no 
assurance that the Group will continue to be able to secure a stable supply of raw materials at competitive prices in a timely 
manner or at all. Failure to do so will cause disruption in production or delayed delivery, thereby adversely affecting the 
Group’s business, results of operation and reputation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with a carrying value of HK$0.8 million 
and HK$1.5 million respectively, were held under finance leases.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2019.

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group’s business plan as set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 13 March 
2018 (the “Prospectus”), with actual business progress up to 31 March 2019.

Business plan as set in the Prospectus Progress up to 31 March 2019

Purchase of a five-colour offset press As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 18 October 
2018 (the “Announcement”), the Group entered into the purchase 
agreement for the acquisition of a six-colour offset press. The Group is 
in the progress of setting up the six-colour offset press. For the detailed 
reasons for the change in use of proceeds, please refer to the 
Announcement.

As at the date of this report, the set up of the six-colour offset press 
was completed.

Purchase of a hybrid printer The Group will commence looking for quotations of hybrid printer after 
the relocation of the digital printing department, which is expected to 
be completed in 2019.

Expansion of our store network The Group is in progress of recruiting more experienced staff and 
identifying suitable location for the operation of the new stores.

Upgrade information technology systems The Company has commenced trail run of the enterprise resource 
planning system in the second quarter of 2018.

The Group is in the process of upgrading the Company’s website.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS

On 28 March 2018, the Company’s shares were listed on GEM and 225,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each were issued 
at HK$0.23 (the “Share Offer”). The net proceeds from the Share Offer was HK$24.0 million after payment of transaction 
cost and listing expenses. As disclosed in the Announcement, the Board resolved to reallocate the use of the Share Offer net 
proceeds for acquiring a six- colour offset press to replace of one of the Group’s existing four-colour offset press.

The following table sets forth the status of the use of proceeds from the Share Offer up to 31 March 2019.

Planned use of the 
net proceeds as 

announced on 
18 October 2018 

(adjusted according 
to the actual net 

proceeds received)

Utilized net 
proceeds up to 
31 March 2019

Unutilized net 
proceeds up to 
31 March 2019

HK$ million 
(approximately)

HK$ million 
(approximately)

HK$ million 
(approximately)

Purchase of a six-colour offset press 10.7 10.7 —
Purchase of a hybrid printer 10.5 — 10.5
Expansion of our store network 1.9 — 1.9
Upgrade information technology systems 0.9 0.6 0.3

Total 24.0 11.3 12.7

The remaining unused net proceeds as at 31 March 2019 were placed as bank balances with licensed banks in Hong Kong 
and will be applied according to the intended usage stated in the Prospectus.

The business objectives, future plans and planned use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best 
estimation and assumption of future market conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus while the 
proceeds were applied based on the actual development of the Group’s business and the industry.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, save for as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, 
the Group did not have any plans for material investments and capital assets.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAU Man Keung (周文強), aged 58, is an executive Director and the chairman of our Board. Mr. Chau was a co- 
founder of our Group and is primarily responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and development of our 
Group. Mr. Chau was appointed as a Director on 27 April 2017 and was re-designated as an executive Director and 
appointed as the chairman of the Board on 2 June 2017. He is the compliance officer on the Company, the chairman of the 
risk management committee and a member of both the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of our 
Board. He is also a director of each of the subsidiaries of our Company, namely, Universe Printshop Limited, All In 1 Printing 
(Group) Limited, Universe Printing Holdings Limited, Print Shop Limited, Startec Colour Separation Printing Limited and Net 
Printshop Limited.

Mr. Chau has 31 years of experience in the printing industry in Hong Kong. He co-founded our Group in 2001. Prior to 
joining our Group, Mr. Chau had accumulated more than 15 years’ industry experience through setting up a partnership 
business with his other business partners to provide printing services in Hong Kong from June 1987 to 2001 prior to co- 
founding our Group. Mr. Chau attended secondary education in Hong Kong. He completed the Assessor Training course 
“Printing industry — Electronic Commerce Business” (competency level 4) in May 2017 under the Recognition of Prior 
Learning (RPL) scheme, aiming to enable practitioners with various backgrounds to receive formal recognition of the 
knowledge, skills and experience already acquired.

Mr. HSU Ching Loi (許清耐), aged 47, is an executive Director and chief executive officer of our Company. Mr. Hsu was a 
co-founder of our Group and is principally responsible for overall management of our Group’s business operation and 
development, formulating production procedure, pricing strategy, sourcing of raw materials, and overseeing our Group’s 
human resources department. Mr. Hsu was appointed as a Director on 27 April 2017 and was re-designated as an executive 
Director and appointed as the chief executive officer of our Company on 2 June 2017. He is a member of the risk 
management committee of the Board. He is also a director of All In 1 Printing (Group) Limited and Universe Printing Holdings 
Limited.

Mr. Hsu has 31 years of experience in the printing industry in Hong Kong. He co-founded our Group in 2001. Prior to joining 
our Group, Mr. Hsu worked in several private printing companies in Hong Kong from 1987 to 2001 prior to co-founding our 
Group with Mr. Chau. Mr. Hsu is currently the Vice Chairman of The Hong Kong Printers Investment Association (香港印刷業
投資協會). Mr. Hsu attended secondary education in the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. WONG Man Hin Joe (黃文軒), aged 49, is an executive Director and is principally responsible for overall management of 
our Group’s business and overseeing daily operation, in particular overseeing the inkjet printing operation. Mr. Wong was 
appointed as a Director on 27 April 2017 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 2 June 2017. He is also a 
director of Startec Colour Separation Printing Limited.

Mr. Wong has over 26 years of experience in the printing industry in Hong Kong. He joined our Group in March 2002. Prior 
to joining our Group, Mr. Wong had worked with Mr. Chau’s business providing printing services in Hong Kong from 1991 to 
2002 as a printing technician. Mr. Wong attended secondary school education in Hong Kong.

Mr. LEUNG Yuet Cheong (梁悅昌), aged 57, is an executive Director. He is principally responsible for overall management 
of our Group’s business and overseeing daily operation, in particular sales and marketing of our Group. Mr. Leung was 
appointed as a Director on 27 April 2017 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 2 June 2017. He is also a 
director of Print Shop Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS  
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung has over 19 years of experience in the printing industry in Hong Kong. He joined our Group in April 2005 and was 
appointed as a director of Print Shop Limited in September 2005. Mr. Leung also had 21 years of marketing experience prior 
to joining our Group. Mr. Leung attended secondary education in Hong Kong.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WAN Aaron Chi Keung, BBS, JP (尹志強), aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26 
February 2018 and the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee, nomination 
committee and risk management committee of the Board. Mr. Wan obtained a degree of master of Business Administration 
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2008 and a degree of master of Buddhist studies from The University of Hong 
Kong in 2010. Mr. Wan was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1997 and was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) 
in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 2004 Honours List. Mr. Wan is engaged in the business of property and 
chattel valuation and auction. Mr. Wan is a fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, an associate of The 
Institution of Business Agents, a member of The Land Institute (London), an associate of The Chartered Institute of 
Arbitrators and a fellow of The Institute of Administrative Accounting. Mr. Wan is currently an independent non-executive 
director of Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited (stock code: 746) and CNC Holdings Limited (stock code: 8356), both 
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Exchange).

Mr. CHAN Chun Kit (陳俊傑), aged 36, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26 February 2018, and 
the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the risk 
management committee of our Board.

Mr. Chan has both academic foundation, professional qualifications and hand-on experience in various listed companies. Mr. 
Chan is currently the regional financial controller of KTL Global Limited, a global service provider in oil and gas industry listed 
on the mainboard of the Singapore Exchange (“SGX”) (Stock Code: EB7). Prior to this position, between 2011 to 2018 he 
was the chief financial officer and company secretary at China Flexible Packaging Holdings Limited, a company which was 
listed on the mainboard of SGX (Stock Code: CFLX). Before joining China Flexible, Mr. Chan worked in an international audit 
firm since 2007.

Concurrently, Mr. Chan is the independent non-executive director of GS Holdings Limited which is listed on SGX (Stock 
Code: GSHO.SI). He had also served as the independent non-executive director (also acting as the chairman of the audit 
committee) of Hua Han Health Industry Holdings Limited, a listed company of the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 587) from 2017 to 2018.

Mr. Chan is a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors, and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. He is also a Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators. Mr. Chan graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Master’s Degree in 
Corporate Governance in 2014 and a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy in 2007.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS  
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. SUN Yongjing (孫咏菁), aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26 February 2018. Being 
the chairlady of the nomination committee and a member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the risk 

management committee of the Board, she is responsible for providing independent judgment to the Group. She has been an 
assistant professor in the School of Accounting and Finance under the Faculty of Business at The Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University since 2004, after she completed her Doctor of Philosophy at the City University of Hong Kong. Dr. Sun worked as 
an assistant lecturer at the Shanghai University of Finance & Economics during the period from September 1993 to August 
1997. During the period from September 1997 to August 1999 and July 2002 to October 2004, Dr. Sun served various 
positions including demonstrator II, senior research assistant and lecturer at the City University of Hong Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WANG Hsiung Yu (王雄育), aged 45, joined our Group as a technician in September 2006 and has been the Production 
Manager of our Group since 2009. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising workers in printing and 

further processing stage in production and a technical consultant of our Group. Mr. Wang has over 21 years’ experience in 
the printing industry.

Ms. LAU Chau King (劉秋琼), aged 48, joined our Group as customer service officer in April 2003 and has been the Sales & 
Marketing Manager of our Group since 2006. Ms. Lau is primarily responsible for supervising the sales team.

Ms. Lau has over 21 years’ experience in printing industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Lau worked in several printing 
companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. LAM Tsz Ping (林子平), aged 33, joined our Group as technician in June 2004 and has been the information technology 
and pre-press manager of our Group since 2010. Mr. Lam is primarily responsible for the Group’s information system 

management, colour management and supervising printing production procedure.

Mr. Lam has over 14 years’ experience in printing industry. He has also satisfactorily completed a full-time One Year Basic 
Craft course in the Digital Print Media Publishing Techniques on 8 July 2004 by Vocational Training Council (VTC).

Mr. SO Hang Fung (蘇恒峯), aged 34, is the financial controller of our Group. He is primarily responsible for financial 
reporting, financial control matters, and assisting in corporate secretarial matters of our Group. Mr. So has more than 10 
years of experience in accounting and auditing fields in Hong Kong since September 2008. Prior to joining our Group, he 
worked in a managerial grade position in a state-owned enterprise and the assurance department of an international audit 
firm.

Mr. So obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from The Open University of Hong Kong in 2008. He is 
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Board is pleased to submit this report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 
year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in providing printing services to the customers in Hong Kong. The printing services of the 
Group included offset printing, ink-jet printing and toner-based digital printing. Other than printing services, the Group also 
provided other services to the customers, which included production of other printing-related products such as pre-ink 
stamps, plastic name-cards, printed eco-bags and printed plastic folders.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in the “Management Discussion and 
Analysis” section of the annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income on page 56.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to HK$11,212.

SHARES CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 24(b) to the 
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the 
Company at any time during the year ended 31 March 2019 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2019 amounted to HK$14,633,766.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman 
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last four financial years is set out on page 118 
of the annual report. Such summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 
during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme by written resolutions of shareholders passed on 26 February 2018. The 
purpose of the share option scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to 
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, 
business partners and service providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), 
director, consultant or adviser of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, contractor, 
supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of the Group, options to subscribe for such number of shares 
as it may determine in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted under the share option scheme shall be a price 
solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the 
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business 
day; (ii) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five 
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant 
of the option.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of options granted to any participant (including both 
exercised and outstanding options) under the share option scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not 
exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by 
shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if such grantee is a connected 
person) abstaining from voting. An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days inclusive of the day on 
which such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for 
the grant of option(s) is HK$1.0.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme at any time during a period as the 
Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination 
thereof. The share option scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date of its adoption on 26 
February 2018 and will expire at the close of business on 25 February 2028. Under the said scheme, the maximum number 
of shares of the Company that may be issued upon the exercise of options that may be granted is 90,000,000 shares, 
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report. No share options 
were granted under the share option scheme since its adoption.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

For the year ended 31 March 2019, Mr. Chau Man Keung (the “Controlling Shareholder”), have confirmed to the Company of 
his compliance with the non-competition undertakings provided to the Company under a deed of non- competition entered 
into between the Controlling Shareholder and the Company dated 26 February 2018.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings 
under the deed of non-competition have been complied with by the Controlling Shareholder during the year ended 31 March 
2019.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chau Man Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Hsu Ching Loi (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Leung Yuet Cheong
Mr. Wong Man Hin Joe

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wan Aaron Chi Keung, BBS, JP

Mr. Chan Chun Kit
Dr. Sun Yongjing

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which stipulates that in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in 
determining the dividend amount, the Board will take into account the results of operations, working capital, financial 
position, future prospects and capital requirements, as well as any other factors which the Directors may consider relevant. 
The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman 
Islands and the articles of association of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company effective from 28 March 2018 which 
has no fixed terms and is subject to retirement by rotation. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into 
a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from 28 March 2018 and is subject to 
retirement by rotation.

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Chan Man Keung, Mr. Chan Chun Kit and 
Dr. Sun Yongjing will retire and ,being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the Company’s forthcoming annual general 
meeting.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with 
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than 
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND 
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Other than the related party transaction disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, no transactions, 
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and in which 
a Director of the Company and the Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted 
at the end of the year or at anytime during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time for the year ended 31 March 2019 was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the 
Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors, their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had 
any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of directors and senior management are set out on page 11 to 13 of this report.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING 
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATE 
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange: (a) 
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests and short positions in which they are taken or 
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register 
referred to therein (the “Register”); or (c) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities 
transactions by Directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long position in Shares as at 31 March 2019

Name of Director Capacity

Number of  
shares held/ 

interested

Percentage of  
the issued share capital  

of the Company  
(approximate)

Mr. Chau Man Keung Beneficial Owner 280,400,000 31.16%
Mr. Hsu Ching Loi Beneficial Owner 110,500,000 12.28%
Mr. Leung Yuet Cheong Beneficial Owner 66,460,000 7.38%
Mr. Wong Man Hin Joe Beneficial Owner 30,380,000 3.38%

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, immediate following the Listing, none of the Directors nor 
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any other interests or short positions in the shares, underlying 
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were 
required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 
(including any interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under provisions of the SFO); or (b) 
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealing by directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 of the GEM 
Listing Rules.



19UNIVERSE PRINTSHOP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware of, as at 31 March 2019, the following persons/entities other than a Director or the chief 
executive of the Company had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares, which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the 
register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% 
or more of the issued voting shares of the Company:

Long position in Shares as at 31 March 2019

Name of Director Capacity

Number of  
shares held/ 

interested

Percentage of the  
issued share capital  

of the Company  
(approximate)

Ms. Siu Man Yam (Note 1) Interest of spouse 280,400,000 31.16%
Mr. Chia Kar Hin Eric John (Note 2) Beneficial Owner 114,760,000 12.75%
Ms. Wan Wai Ching Lilian (Note 2) Interest of spouse 114,760,000 12.75%
Ms. Ng Lai Nga (Note 3) Interest of spouse 110,500,000 12.28%
Ms. Mok Chun Ngor (Note 4) Interest of spouse 66,460,000 7.38%

Notes:

1. Ms. Siu is the spouse of Mr. Chau Man Keung, an executive Director. By virtue of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of 

Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time (“SFO”) , Ms. Siu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which 

Mr. Chau is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO.

2. Ms. Wan Wai Ching Lilian is the spouse of Mr. Chia Kar Hin Eric John. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Wan Wai Ching Lilian is deemed to be interested in all 

the Shares in which Mr. Chia is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO.

3. Ms. Ng Lai Nga is the spouse of Mr. Hsu Ching Loi, an executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Ng Lai Nga is deemed to be interested in all the 

Shares in which Mr. Hsu is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO.

4. Ms. Mok is the spouse of Mr. Leung Yuet Cheong, an executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Mok is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in 

which Mr. Leung is interested or deemed to be interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, immediate following the Listing, the Directors were not 
aware of any other persons who had or deemed or taken to have any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying 
shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were 
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly 
interested in 5% or more of the issued voting shares of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The purchases to the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 76% of the total purchases for the year 
and the purchases to the largest supplier included therein accounted for approximately 56%.

During the year, the percentage of sales attributable to the five largest customers in aggregate is less than 30% of the 
Group’s total revenue.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors, who owns more 
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major suppliers or customers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES AND CUSTOMERS

The Group recognises that the success in the printing industry is dependent on our employees. The principal policies 
concerning remuneration of employees are determined based on their duties, responsibilities, experience and skills. The 
Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration and compensation packages of the employees. The Group is also 
committed to providing a safe and healthy environment for its employees. The Directors believe that, the management 
policies, working environment, development opportunities and employee benefits have contributed to employees’ satisfaction 
levels and retention level. The Group organises bonding activities, such as annual staff dinners, to allow employees to 
strengthen their bonding. During the Financial Year, the Group did not experience any strike or labour dispute with our staff 
which had caused significant disruption to the Group’s business operations.

The Group built stable and maintains good relationship with customers. The Group has dedicated sales and marketing 
department which carries out sales calls to potential customers and customer service department which handles customer 
general enquiries, complaints and feedback. If there is any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the management 
and immediate remedial action will be taken and feedback from the customers will be followed till settlement of the 
complaint. Thereafter, the cause of such compliant will be studied, analysed and evaluated and recommendations will be in 
place for improvement.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS

The Group values sustainable supply of quality products at a high place for long-term business development.

Therefore, the Group’s supplier management policy targets supplying quality and sustainable products. The assessment 
criteria of selecting the suppliers includes meeting the Group’s standards for the quality of raw materials, reputation, 
environmental friendliness, production capacity, financial capability and experience. The Group views suppliers as partners 
who contribute to our business success.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were conducted in the ordinary course of business are set out 
in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. Certain of which also constitute discloseable connected transactions 
under the GEM Listing Rules. These connected transactions have complied with the requirements under Chapter 20 of the 
GEM Listing Rules.

The purchase of motor vehicles paid to related companies as mentioned in Note 28 were connected transactions which 
were exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under 
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The rental expenses paid to related companies as mentioned in Note 28 were continuing connected transactions which were 
exempt from independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. For details, 
please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” below.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following table summarized the continuing connected transactions of the Company during the Year:

Agreement Parties Term Location

Annual cap 
for the year 

ended  
31 March  

2019

Actual 
amount paid 
for the year 

ended  
31 March  

2019
(HK$’000) (HK$’000)

Production Site 
Tenancy 
Agreement 1

Universe Printing 
Holdings Limited 
(“UPHL”) (as tenant) 
and Universe Samfine 
Limited (“Universe 
Samfine”)* (as landlord)

15 months from  
1 January 2019

Unit B on the 8th Floor,  
Block 4, Kwun Tong 
Industrial Centre,  
436–446 Kwun Tong 
Road, Kowloon,  
Hong Kong

108 108

Production Site 
Tenancy 
Agreement 2

UPHL (as tenant) and 
Universe Printing 
Company Limited 
(“UPCL”)* (as landlord)

3 years from  
1 April 2017

Basement A4, Units A,  
M, N, Q and R on  
the 8th Floor and Unit A 
on the 9th Floor, Block 4, 
Kwun Tong Industrial 
Centre, 436–446 Kwun 
Tong Road,  
Kowloon, Hong Kong

2,880 2,880

The leased premises pursuant to the aforesaid tenancy agreements were utilised by the Group as our production site and 
godown.

* Both Universe Samfine and UPCL are owned as to 45.53% by Mr. Chau Man Keung, an executive Director and a controlling shareholder of the 

Company and 40% by Mr. Hsu Ching Loi, an executive Director, therefore both Universe Samfine and UPCL are associates of Mr. Chau Man Keung and 

Mr. Hsu Ching Loi, and accordingly are connected persons of the Company.
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Pursuant to Rule 20.53 of the GEM Listing Rules, the audit committee comprising 3 independent non-executive Directors, 
under the authority delegated by the Board, reviewed all the aforesaid continuing connected transactions. All of the 
independent non-executive directors confirmed that:

The continuing connected transactions were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on 
normal commercial terms or better, and the terms of the continuing connected transactions under the respective agreements 
are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

During the Year, the actual amounts of all the continuing connected transactions paid under the agreements did not exceed 
the respective aggregate annual cap as previously disclosed in the Prospectus and the announcements of the Company.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong 
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information”, and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected 
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The external auditor issued its unqualified letter 
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 20.54 of 
the GEM Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the 
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, 
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As of 31 March 2019, the Group employed 131 (FY2018: 133) full time employees in Hong Kong. The staff costs of the 
Group, including directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries, retirement benefits schemes contributions and other benefits 
amounted to HK$32.6 million (FY2018: HK$30.0 million).

Employees are remunerated in accordance with individual’s responsibility and performance, also taking into account the 
prevailing market rates to ensure competitiveness. Other fringe benefits such as retirement benefits and discretionary bonus 
are offered to all employees.

The Group has established a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for its Hong Kong employees. The 
assets of the scheme are held separately in funds which are under the control of independent trustees. The retirement 
benefit scheme contributions charged to profit or loss represent contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 
5% of each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at HK$30,000 per month. The total costs charged to profit 
or loss for the year of approximately HK$1.4 million (FY2018: approximately HK$ 1.4 million) and represented contributions 
paid or payable to the schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting period. At the end of the reporting period, 
there were no forfeited contributions available to reduce future obligations.
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COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 March 2019, none of the Directors, controlling shareholder or their respective close associates (as 
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has any interests in a business that competes or is likely to compete either directly or 
indirectly with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date 
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issue shares 
as required under the GEM Listing Rules during FY2019 and up to the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong)) for the benefit of the existing directors of the Company is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

The Company has taken out directors’ liability insurance that provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in the section headed 
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 38 to 50 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance 
with such requirements. The Group conducts on-going reviews of newly enacted/revised laws and regulations affecting its 
operations. The Company is not aware of any non-compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and regulations 
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHER 
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of the Group’s business depends on the support from its key stakeholders, 
including employees, customers, suppliers, banks, regulators and shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective 
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key stakeholders.
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INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at 31 March 2019, as notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, Ballas Capital Limited (the “Compliance Adviser”), 
except for the compliance adviser agreement dated 8 June 2017 entered into between the Company and the Compliance 
Adviser, neither the Compliance Adviser nor its directors, employees or close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing 
Rules) had any interests in relation to the Company, which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 
of the GEM Listing Rules.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the 
Company’s securities.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any events after the reporting period that requires disclosure.

AUDITOR

KPMG resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 12 December 2018. Based on analysis and recommendation 
by the management, the Company’s Audit Committee recommended to appoint BDO Limited (“BDO”) as the auditor of the 
Company with effect from 12 December 2018 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of KPMG and to hold office 
until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company. For further details on the change of auditor, please refer to the 
announcement of the Company dated 12 December 2018.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been audited by BDO who retire and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO as auditor of the Company will be 
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Universe Printshop Holdings Limited
Mr. Chau Man Keung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2019
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The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate governance in management and internal procedures so as to 
achieve effective accountability. The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles of good 
corporate governance as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report in Appendix 15 to 
the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”).

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code during FY2019 and up to the date 
of this report.

The Board will continue to review and further improve the Company’s corporate governance practices and standards, so as 
to ensure its business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting 
than the required standard of dealings concerning securities transactions by the Directors as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of 
the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code governing securities transactions of the Directors. Having made 
specific enquiry of all the Directors, all of them confirmed that they had fully complied with the required standard of dealings 
as set out in the Model Code during FY2019 and up to the date of this report.

Pursuant to Rule 5.66 of the Model Code, the Directors have also requested any employee of the Company or director or 
employee of a subsidiary of the Company who, because of his office or employment in the Company or a subsidiary, is likely 
to possess inside information in relation to the securities of the Company, not to deal in securities of the Company when he 
would be prohibited from dealing by the Model Code as if he were a Director.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing the Group’s strategic decisions and monitoring 
of the business and performance of the Group. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing 
and coordinating the daily operations and management of the Company are delegated to the management.

As of the date of this report, the Board comprises 7 Directors including 4 executive Directors, 3 independent non-executive 
Directors, whose names, roles and functions are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chau Man Keung (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Hsu Ching Loi (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Leung Yuet Cheong
Mr. Wong Man Hin Joe
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wan Aaron Chi Keung, BBS, JP

Mr. Chan Chun Kit
Dr. Sun Yongjing

There are no financial, business or other relevant relationship among our Directors.

The Board, acting in the interest of the Group and its shareholders, is primarily responsible for the matters in relation to 
strategic formulation, business development, corporate governance, risk management, compliance, internal control systems, 
dividend policy, board diversity policy, shareholders’ relationship, accounting policies and financial statements, and other 
functions and matters assigned to the Board as set out in the Listing Rules and Articles of Association of the Company.

The Board delegates the daily operational management of the Group’s business, execution of business development plan, 
administrative and operational work and the implementation of risk management and internal controls to the CEO and other 
senior management of the Group. The Board also conducts regular reviews of the functions and performance of the 
management. The management of the Group shall obtain the approval of the Board before entering into and arranging any 
significant transaction/contract. All Directors were given an opportunity to include any matters in the agenda for regular 
Board meetings and were also given sufficient time to review documents and information relating to matters to be discussed 
in Board meetings in advance.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, twelve Board meetings and one general meeting were held and Directors 
attended the meetings in person and/or by proxy as follows.

Director
Attendance in person/

Number of Board meeting
Attendance in person/

General Meeting

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chau Man Keung (Chairman of the Board) 6/6 1/1
Mr. Hsu Ching Loi (Chief Executive Officer) 6/6 1/1
Mr. Leung Yuet Cheong 6/6 1/1
Mr. Wong Man Hin Joe 6/6 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Wan Aaron Chi Keung, BBS, JP 6/6 1/1
Mr. Chan Chun Kit 6/6 1/1
Dr. Sun Yongjing 6/6 1/1
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Our Board believes that it has achieved a balanced compositions, including but not limited to the following measurable 
objectives in terms of age, gender and length of services.

Age group No. of Directors in the category

Below 40 years old 1
Between 41–60 years old 5
Over 60 years old 1

Gender No. of Directors in the category

Female 1
Male 6

As of 31 March 2019, all our Directors have served less than 2 years in the Board of the Company. The Board considers that 
all our Directors have sufficient commitments to the Company and the Board.

The Company has also assessed the experience, qualification and attributes that our Directors demonstrate and that they 
can provide valuable perspectives, skills and experiences to the Board as summarized below.

Highlighted experience, qualification and attributes 
(including, but not limited to)

No. of Directors demonstrating the 
experience, qualification and attributes 

Business and Management Experience in Printing Industry 4
Corporate Governance & Risk Management 3
Accountancy & Financial Management 2
Public Appointments 1
Valuation & Surveying 1

Note: a Director may hold more than one type of experience, qualification and attributes.

BOARD MEETINGS

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is 
entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and has unrestricted access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretary and has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, uses annual general 
meetings or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their participation. The Chairman of the Board 
and the chairmen and members of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”), nomination committee (“Nomination 
Committee”) and remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company shall endeavour to attend the annual 
general meeting to answer questions and collect views of shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should participate in continuous professional development 
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and 
relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development by way of attending seminars organised by the 
Company on topics relating to their role as a Director of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be separate 
and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any 
one individual. Mr. Chau Man Keung, the executive Director, is the chairman of the Company and is responsible for the 
leadership of the Board while Mr. Hsu Ching Loi, the executive Director, is the chief executive officer and is responsible for 
managing the Group’s business and overall operations.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors 
representing not less than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or 
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of high calibre, with working experience, academic and 
professional qualifications in the fields of accounting, company secretaryship or management. With their experience gained 
from various sectors, they provide strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the 
Board.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence 
and considers each of them to be independent with reference to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four Board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Group’s affairs and help it in the 
execution of its responsibilities. The Board committees each have specific written terms of reference which clearly outline the 
committees’ authority and duties, and require the Board committees to report back on their decisions or recommendations 
to the Board. All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, including access to 
management or professional advice if considered necessary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference on 26 February 2018. The terms of reference 
of the Audit Committee is currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, they are:

Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Chairman)
Dr. Sun Yongjing
Mr. Wan Aaron Chi Keung, BBS, JP

The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Chan Chun Kit, who has the appropriate professional qualifications as required under 
Rules 5.05(2) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee are to assist the Board in 
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of Group’s financial reporting process, internal control and risk 
management systems, to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the 
Board.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and 
removal of the external auditors, and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and 
any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditors; review with the Group’s management, external auditors and 
internal auditor, where an internal audit function exists in the Company, the adequacy of the Group’s policies and procedures 
regarding internal controls (including financial, operational and compliance controls), risk management system and any 
statement by the directors of the Company to be included in the annual accounts prior to endorsement by the Board.

The Audit Committee had held six meetings for the financial year ended 31 March 2019, which was attended by all the 
committee members, to review the audited financial statements, results announcement and annual report of the Company 
for the year ended 31 March 2019 and met with the Company’s independent auditor without the presence of management 
to discuss any potential issues identified by the auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference on 26 February 2018. The terms of 
reference of the Remuneration Committee is currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s 
website.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include: (i) making recommendations to the Directors on the policy and 
structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent 
procedure for developing policies on such remuneration; (ii) making recommendations to the Board on the terms of the 
individual remuneration package of executive Directors and senior management; (iii) making recommendations to the Board 
on the remuneration of independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) reviewing and approving performance-based 
remuneration with reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by our Board from time to time.
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Details of the Directors emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director, they are: 

Mr. Wan Aaron Chi Keung, BBS, JP (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Chun Kit
Dr. Sun Yongjing
Mr. Chau Man Keung

The Remuneration Committee had held one meeting for the year ended 31 March 2019, which was attended by all the 
committee members, to review the remuneration structure for the executive Directors and senior management and make 
recommending on the remuneration of the Directors and senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference on 26 February 2018. The terms of 
reference of the Nomination Committee is currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s 
website.

The key responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board at 
least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board, assessing the independence of 
independent non-executive directors of the Company and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re- 
appointment of directors of the Company.

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director, they are:

Dr. Sun Yongjing (Chairlady)
Mr. Wan Aaron Chi Keung, BBS, JP

Mr. Chan Chun Kit
Mr. Chau Man Keung

The Nomination Committee had held one meeting for the year ended 31 March 2019, which was attended by all the 
committee members, to review the independence of independent non-executive directors and consider the retirement and 
proposed re-appointment of Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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NOMINATION POLICY

According to the directors nomination policy of the Company, the Board and the Nomination Committee will follow 
established criteria and procedures for selecting and recommending suitable candidates in order to achieve a balanced and 
diversified Board in terms of skills, experience and perspectives.

The Nomination Committee will consider a variety of factors in the course of identifying, selecting and assessing the suitability 
of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following criteria:

• Direct industry experience;

• Professional and academic backgrounds;

• Achievements and Contributions;

• Reputation;

• Independence (for Independent Non-Executive Directors);

• Our Board Diversity Policy;

• any other relevant and material factors as may be considered by the Nomination Committee.

The Board has also established nomination procedures for Directors’ nomination pursuant to the Listing Rules and the 
Company’s by-laws as summarized below:

(a) Appointment of New Director

Regarding proposed appointment of new Director, the Nomination Committee must evaluate the proposed candidate 
based on the selection criteria mentioned above and make recommendations to the Board regarding whether the 
proposed candidates are qualified and appropriate for directorship.

For directorship nomination proposed by Shareholders at the General Meeting, the Nomination Committee should also 
evaluate such candidates in accordance to the same selection criteria and the Board should make recommendation to 
the Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the General Meeting.

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand for re-election at the General Meeting according to 
the by-laws of the Company.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the overall contribution, participation and performance of the 
retiring Director and the Board should then make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of Director at the General Meeting.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”). The Company recognises and embraces 
the benefits of having a diverse Board. All Board appointments are made on merits and candidates will be considered 
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Pursuant to the Policy, the Company 
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, 
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision 
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board taking into account factors based 
on its own business model and specific needs from time to time and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the 
Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Risk Management Committee with written terms of reference on 26 February 2018. The terms 
of reference of the Risk Management Committee is currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the 
Company’s website.

The primary duties of the risk management committee are to (i) advise the Board on risk-related issues; (ii) oversee the risk 
management framework to identify and deal with the risks faced by the Group such as business, financial, legal and 
regulatory risks; (iii) review reports on risks and breaches of risk policies; and (iv) review the effectiveness of the Company’s 
risk control and/or mitigation plans.

The Risk Management Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and two executive Director, they 
are:

Mr. Chau Man Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Wan Aaron Chi Keung, BBS, JP

Mr. Chan Chun Kit
Dr. Sun Yongjing
Mr. Hsu Ching Loi

The Risk Management Committee has held one meeting for the year ended 31 March 2019 to consider appointing an 
independent external consultant to independently perform internal control review and assess effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management and internal control systems.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by the Board pursuant to the code provisions as set out in 
the CG code.

The Board, as a whole, will perform the corporate governance functions in accordance with provision D.3 of the Corporate 
Governance Code and has adopted written terms of reference in accordance with provision D.2 of the Corporate 
Governance Code which provide for, among others,

(i) developing and reviewing our Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of our Directors and senior 
management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring our Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and 
our Directors; and

(v) reviewing our Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate 
governance reports of our Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board held one meeting for reviewing the training and continuous professional 
development of Directors and senior management, reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and reviewing 
the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITORS’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2019, BDO Limited was engaged as the Group’s independent auditors. Apart from the 
provision of annual audit services, BDO Limited also provided the non-audit services to the Company. The remuneration 
paid/payable to BDO Limited, the auditors, is set out below:

HK$

Audit services — Annual Audit 430,000
Non-audit services (Note) 68,000

Note: The non-audit services provided by BDO Limited include tax compliance services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Sun Kwong (陳晨光), aged 52,was appointed as the company secretary on 2 June 2017. He is responsible for 
corporate secretarial matters of our Group. Mr. Chan obtained his diploma of business administration from the Hong Kong 
Shue Yan College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in July 1990. He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries, the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom, the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan is also a mediator of both Hong Kong Mediation Accreditation Association 
Limited and the Hong Kong Mediation Centre. Mr. Chan has over 26 years of experience in the accounting, auditing and 
company secretarial fields in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan is an external service provider and Mr. So Hang Fung, the Company’s financial controller, is the primary contact 
person with Mr. Chan.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between the shareholders and the Board. 
An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined by the Board. 
Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting.

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

According to the Articles 58 of the articles of association of the Company, the Board may whenever it thinks fit call 
extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one- 
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times 
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general 
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be 
held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails 
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all 
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the 
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar. Shareholders 
and the investment community may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent such information 
is publicly available. Any such questions shall be first directed to the company secretary at the Company’s principal place of 
business in Hong Kong at Office F, 12/F, Legend Tower, No. 7 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

Shareholders should follow the procedures set out in the sub-section headed “Convening an extraordinary general meeting” 
above for putting forward proposals for discussion at general meetings.
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Voting by Poll

A resolution put to the vote of a meeting shall be decided by way of a poll save that the chairman of the meeting may in good 
faith, allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands in 
which case every Member present in person (or being a corporation, is present by a duly authorised representative), or by 
proxy(ies) shall have one vote provided that where more than one proxy is appointed by a Member which is a clearing house (or 
its nominee(s)), each such proxy shall have one vote on a show of hands.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed 
to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and investment public. The Company 
updates its shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance through its annual, interim and 
quarterly reports. The corporate website of the Company has provided an effective communication platform to the public 
and the shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of annual, half-yearly and 
quarterly reports, other inside information announcements and other financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing 
Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 March 2019 which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company. The Directors are not aware of 
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and accordingly continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.

The responsibilities of the Company’s auditor on the consolidated financial statements are set out in the independent 
auditors’ report on pages 51 to 55 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the design, implementation, monitor and review of the Group’s internal control system 
including the internal control and risk management for the Company to ensure their effectiveness and efficiency. The 
objective of internal control is to safeguard the Company’s assets and ensure its accounting records are properly maintained, 
so that all the financial information is accurate and reliable. The Group has adopted a series of internal control policies and 
procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance for achieving the objectives including effective and efficient 
operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. All employees are committed to 
continually enhancing the risk management measures to ensure that these measures work in line with the growth of our 
business strategies and integrated into day-to-day operation of the business. The Board shall at least annually review its risk 
management and internal control system.
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The objectives of the risk management and internal control of the Group include:

• establishing and constantly improving the risks management and internal control system;

• ensuring the Group’s risk management and internal control in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules requirements;

• implementing the top-down approach and bottom-up approach that covers every aspect of the business; and

• managing rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has a particular focus on determining the nature and extent of significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the 
business strategies of the Group. Each department of the Group is responsible for identifying its own risks and designing, 
implementing and monitoring the relevant risk management and internal control systems.

The Company’s internal audit department monitors the internal control procedures and systems of the Group and reports its 
findings and recommendations to management of the Company and the Audit Committee. The internal audit department 
also assesses risk exposure, formulates audit plan and ensures the audit programs cover key internal control areas of 
operating subsidiaries on a rotational basis for the review by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee reviews the process by which the Group evaluates its control environment and risk assessment 
process, and the way in which business and control risks are managed through the assistance of the Company’s internal 
audit department. Special review may also be performed on areas of concern identified by management or the Audit 
Committee from time to time.

The Board considers that the Group has implemented a series of internal control policies and appropriate procedures to 
provide reasonable assurance for achieving the objectives including effective and efficient operations, safeguarding the 
Group’s assets, provide reliable financial reporting and compliance of the relevant laws and regulations.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination inside 
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in 
accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in 
possession of inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group has strictly prohibited 
unauthorised use of confidential or inside information or any use of such information for the advantage of himself or others. 
Any inside information and any information which may potentially constitute inside information is promptly identified, 
assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other 
information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be announced on the respective 
websites of GEM and the Company in due course.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted a new set of Articles of Association effective on the Listing Date. An up-to-date version of the Articles 
of Association is available on the respective website of GEM and the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, there have been no changes to the Company’s constitutional documents.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Universe Printshop Holdings Limited (the “Company”, “we”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) strives continuously 
to incorporate sustainability initiatives into our daily operations and management. While sharing the vision of becoming the 
preferred choice of our stakeholders, we are committed to improving our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
performances by upholding good corporate governance standards, protecting our environment, engaging the community 
and promoting social integration.

The Group always believes that meeting stakeholders’ expectation is important to gain support and trust. As such, 
stakeholders are identified and engaged by various channels on regular basis. Through these engagements, the Group is 
able to act on strategic development to balance and maximize various stakeholders’ interests to the best possible level.

We have engaged our business functions to identify key ESG issues and to assess their materiality to our business and 
stakeholders, through reviewing our operations, daily business dealings and internal discussions. Disclosures relating to the 
identified material ESG issues are included in this ESG Report pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the Environmental, 
Social and Reporting Guide.

This ESG Report (“the Report”) aims to present our key performance indicators and milestones on the sustainability journey 
for the year ended 31 March 2019 (“FY2019”). Our reporting is limited to Hong Kong operation unless otherwise specified. 
All the information disclosed in this Report has been confirmed by the Board.

The Report has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance 
Reporting Guide” under Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. We value your feedback on the Company’s overall 
sustainability practices and the related review. Please provide your comments by email to <info@123print.com.hk>.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

In FY2019, we measured and managed the environmental performance in several aspects throughout our daily operations.

Emission and Energy Conservation

Air pollution is one of the major environmental issues that are of great concern. As offset printing involves the use of ink and 
chemical solvent, our production inevitably generates volatile organic compounds (VOC). In FY2019, the Company owned 4 
motor vehicles. The air emissions incurred by the use of fuel is negligible and therefore immaterial.

We have implemented the following measures to minimise air emissions and their effects:

• Appropriate ventilation system at the production sites to reduce employees’ exposure to hazardous emissions

• Separation of high emission processes from other operations

• Regular maintenance and cleaning of generators, vehicles and other machinery

Global climate change is a challenge that businesses and organisations around the world must face and address. We are 
committed to minimising the adverse impact that our operations may have on the environment. Using energy efficiently will 
definitely help us preserve resources and tackle climate change.
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Electricity consumption accounts for a major part of our greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions. To reduce our carbon footprint, 
we have implemented the following measures:

• Reminders and signs for office equipment (e.g. photocopiers, printer) to be switched to standby mode after use

• Regular maintenance of appliances and equipment as suggested by the relevant instruction manual

• Lighting zone segregation and individual lights made available only after office hours

• Limit access to the operation of air-conditioning units

• More environmentally friendly office temperature (24–26°C)

• Smart casual dress code for work

• Practices of switching off lighting, air-conditioning, computers and encouraging the use of energy-saving mode for all 
the applicable electronic appliances during lunch hours

• Reminders of “use when necessary” and “off after use” for lighting and air-conditioning

• Authorized staff switch on/off equipment before/after office hours

In this reporting year, we consumed 1,714,482 kWh of electricity with an intensity of 11,279 kWh/HKD’m revenue, equivalent 
to 885 tCO2e of Scope 2 GHG emissions. The total GHG emissions and carbon intensity were 897 tCO2e and 5.90 tCO2e/
HKD’m revenue respectively.

Material Consumption and Waste Management

We work diligently in reducing our waste from operations. The Group reckons the importance of waste reduction and waste 
management (e.g. waste classification at source for better recycling) and has thus implemented various initiatives to tackle 
the related issues.

Offset printing operations generate certain solid and liquid hazardous waste, including chemical solvent, ink residues and its 
containers. During the year, we returned empty ink containers to manufacturer for reuse or recycling purposes. Liquid 
chemicals, such as waste plate developer, were collected in labeled containers before handing over to authorized service 
providers. The Group has been granted with the Registration of Waste Producer under the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) 
(General) Regulation (Cap. 354C), and complied with relevant procedural requirements.

The Group does its utmost to explore and maximise resources reuse and recycle opportunities. Paper and packaging 
materials constitute a significant portion of resources consumption. To fully utilise precious resources, incoming packaging 
materials like pallets and carton boxes were reused in the operation whenever possible. Scrap paper bins have also been set 
up in each shop and on each production floor, enabling convenient drop-off and collection by licensed recycler.
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To reduce our raw material consumption and waste generation, we have implemented the following measures:

• Reminders, signs and posters at collection points and prominent areas to encourage waste recycling

• Replacement of photocopying and printing of publications (newsletter/leaflet/report) by e-versions

• More eco-friendly printing practices (e.g. print when necessary, print double-sided, print in black & white)

• Procurement of electrical & electronic equipment only when necessary, and scheduled regular maintenance to prolong 
life span

• Cartridges of larger volume or longer life-span and recycled by manufacturer

• Box files consumption reduction by reusing old ones or applying electronic filing

• Paper consumption reduction by using e-communication with at least 60% of staff members having email access

• Broken items repair to avoid waste disposal

• Used furniture recycling by reselling or donation

• Reuse of supplies and stationeries (e.g. envelopes, single-side printed paper)

• Reuse of materials for decorating festive events (e.g. Christmas and Chinese New Year, etc.)

• Resale of unwanted second-hand products

• Conversion/Upgrading of old items into useful ones

• Minimising the use of chemicals (e.g. cleaning agents)

• Use of re-useable containers, dishes, cups and coffee filters in the pantry wherever possible

• Use of shredded waste paper for packaging

• Proper size packaging to avoid using fillers

• Minimising the use of tape and strapping for sealing
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We measure different types of materials used to gauge our environmental performance. The following tables presents the 
material consumption in our business operations:

Material Consumption Unit

Paper Consumption pieces 29,341,258
Ink Consumption kg 23,537.00
Solvent Consumption L 65,700.00
Zinc Plate Consumption kg 73,369.30
Toner Consumption kg 936.67

Packaging Materials Used Unit

Carton Box Consumption kg 34,368

Others packaging materials consumed by the Company are insignificant, therefore we do not disclose in the Report.

Amount of waste collected by weight and corresponding management approaches are shown in following tables:

Non-hazardous Waste Generated Treatment Unit

Paper Recycled tonnes 197.78

Hazardous Waste Generated Treatment Unit

Ink Residue and Container Recycled kg 1,826.00
Zinc Plate Recycled kg 67,710.26
Toner Recycled kg 78.24
Plate Developer Collected by authorized service provider L 16,740.00

Natural Resources and Environment

While benefiting from the natural resources, we always bear in mind the responsibilities and the obligations of protecting the 
environment. We therefore, in our business operations, have taken considerable efforts to monitor and minimise the negative 
impact on the environment.

In particular, we have implemented measures as follows:

• Use of Forest Stewardship Council® (FSCTM)-certified paper, as a sustainably-managed forest source option, for 
production.

• Use of Forest Stewardship Council® (FSCTM)-certified wood or paper products for our daily administration.

• Following sustainable seafood guides on company banquet and other catering events.
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Due to the nature of our business operation, our water consumption is not substantial and most of the water we use for our 
operations is for cooling processes in production and general purpose in daily operation and there were no issues in sourcing 
water that is fit for purpose.

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment and Labour Standard
As key enablers in achieving its economic, environmental and social objectives of the Group, our employees are always 
regarded as the most valuable assets. We believe that creating a workplace that offers a strong sense of belonging can 
inspire our employees to champion our core values. We strive to create an environment where every employee can work 
happily and excel to his/her full potential.

We encourage promotions within the Group so that we can gradually train our employees to take up management executives 
roles. We also do our best to maintain open dialogue with employees, and encourage discussion about their career goals.

To retain top-notch talents and attract young professionals, the Group regularly reviews and enhances its employees’ 
remuneration terms and benefits. Competitive remuneration packages are structured to be commensurate with individual 
responsibilities, qualification, experience and performance. Eligibility requirements of various positions are set forth in written 
document as minimum entry criteria. The Group upholds the value of equal opportunities in terms of gender, pregnancy, 
marital status, disability, family status and race. Employees can report on discriminatory practices to the management or 
Human Resource Department.

The Group has established policy to prevent unfair dismissal. An employee cannot be dismissed when she has been 
confirmed pregnant or after she has given notice of pregnancy. An employee cannot be dismissed when he or she takes a 
paid sick leave. Each employee that tenders resignation will be interviewed by the Human Resource Department to ascertain 
the reason for leaving the Group. The dismissed employee shall be given due notice or wages in lieu of notice, and the notice 
should not be given during his or her annual leave and maternity leave.

The employees of the Group can enjoy statutory holidays, maternity leave, annual leave and work-injury leave.

We prohibit the use of child labour and forced or compulsory labour at all its units and suppliers. No employee is made to 
work against his/her will or work as forced labour, or subject to corporal punishment or coercion of any type related to work.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed 133 staff in total.
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During FY2019, there was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on 
the Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal 
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and/or other benefits and welfare and the Group did not encounter any issue with 
non-compliance and/or violate any relevant laws and regulations in respect of the prevention of child or forced labour.

Workforce statistic by geographic region, gender, employment type and age group:

Staff Number

(a) Breakdown by region
Employees — Hong Kong 133

(b) Breakdown by gender
Employees — Female 45
Employees — Male 88

(c) Breakdown by age group
Employees Age < 30 41
Employees Age 30–50 57
Employees Age > 50 35

(d) Breakdown by employment type
Employees — Part-time 2
Employees — Full-time 131

Health and Safety
Ensuring health and safety of our employees is one of our prime responsibilities. We strive to provide with our employees a 
safe working environment and reinforce their safety awareness by relevant information and training. The Group has 
formulated, implemented and regularly reviewed its safety guideline with reference to relevant laws, codes of practice, 
industry best practices and causes of accident. The comprehensive guideline covers aspects such as general printing 
process, chemical hazards, emergency plan, and risk assessment. In the event of work-related injury, the Group 
compensates the injured employee in accordance with the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282).

Reinforcing employees’ safety awareness is of crucial importance as prevention is always better than cure. In addition to 
continuous safety training and affixing safety reminders, frontline staff are also provided with personal protective equipment (e.g. 
protective gloves) based on their job nature.

In relation to the provision of a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards, no incident 
was in breach of any relevant laws and regulations. As a result, there is no significant impact on the Group.

Development and Training
To enable our talents to develop themselves to their fullest potential and to provide them with the essential skill sets to deliver 
the best, training sessions are arranged for new employees with regard to the skills set required for particular position, 
company policies, standards, as well as relevant laws.

In addition to on-the-job training upon employment, we provide topic-specific training based on emerging needs and 
regulation updates from time to time. For example, a training session on FSC Basics and Health and Safety was organised to 
employee representatives from different departments during the reporting year.



44 UNIVERSE PRINTSHOP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL  
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Operating Practice

Supply Chain Management
We are aware of the broader impact of our operations from our supply chain. Addressing the sustainability risks in our supply 
chain is one of our major ways of minimising potential negative impacts, environmental and social, of our procurement 
decisions.

In selecting suppliers, rigorous mechanism based on various standards is adopted to evaluate the pricing, quality assurance 
system, inventory management, production capacity, as well as sustainability risk management of potential suppliers. The 
Group conducts review on existing suppliers regularly, and sample production materials for quality inspection when 
necessary.

Product and Service Responsibility
As a responsible company, we are fully aware of the importance to comply with relevant laws and regulations concerning the 
provision and use of our products and services, in particular intellectual property and confidentiality matters.

We support the protection of intellectual property rights, and strictly abides by all applicable laws. Upon request for printing 
service, we will seek customer’s confirmation that the printed materials will not infringe copyright of any third party or involve 
defamation, invasion of privacy, counterfeiting, indecency, or obscenity. If necessary, our relevant staff may ask customers to 
present authorised proof for verification, and reserve the right of not providing the printing service which would connive at the 
breach of applicable laws.

To protect our customers’ confidentiality and privacy, any use of personal information collected by the Group is strictly 
complied with Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486). The Group is committed to exercising due diligence in 
preventing information leakage or transferal to unauthorised parties. Encryption and firewall technologies are deployed, 
reviewed and updated regularly to prevent unauthorised access. It is also mandatory for all new employees to sign non-
disclosure agreement and follow standard documentation procedures.

No sold or delivered products were subject to recalls for copyright or health, safety and environmental reasons during the 
reporting year.

During FY2019, the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group 
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters.
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Anti-corruption
We are committed to maintaining high standard of integrity when doing business as we strongly believe that it is essential to 
meet the expectations of our stakeholders.

To ensure the highest possible standards of openness, probity and accountability, the Group has implemented preventive 
measures and whistle-blowing procedures. Anti-corruption policy and declaration procedure guideline are set forth in 
accordance with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201), and are communicated to employees through staff 
handbook. It is an offence for any employee to obtain or accept any benefit for the purpose of seeking personal gain without 
permission of the Group. Any employee may report suspected misconduct or malpractice in breach of applicable laws to his 
or her immediate head or independent directors.

During FY2019, we did not identify any non-compliance in relation to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money 
laundering, which will have a significant impact on the Group. The Group will regularly review its internal anti-corruption 
system and improve it when necessary.

Community Investment

We pursue sustainable development of our community by assessing and managing the social impact of our operations and 
by supporting initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits to the community in which the Group operates.

During the reporting year, the Group made a total donation of HK$11,212 to authorised charities.
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ESG GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Disclosure, Aspects, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description FY 2019 ESG Report

A. Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions
General Disclosure Information on: 

(a) the policies; and 
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations 

that have a significant impact on the issuer 

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, 
discharges into water and land, and generation 
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Environmental Performance
— Emission and Energy 

Conservation
— Material Consumption and 

Waste Management

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions 
data.

Not material to the Group’s business

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) 
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit 
of production volume, per facility).

Environmental Performance
— Emission and Energy 

Conservation

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) 
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit 
of production volume, per facility).

Environmental Performance
— Material Consumption and 

Waste Management

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) 
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit 
of production volume, per facility).

Environmental Performance
— Material Consumption and 

Waste Management

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions 
and results achieved.

Environmental Performance
— Emission and Energy 

Conservation

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction 
initiatives and results achieved.

Environmental Performance
— Material Consumption and 

Waste Management
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Disclosure, Aspects, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description FY 2019 ESG Report

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, 

including energy, water and other raw materials.
Environmental Performance

— Emission and Energy 
Conservation

— Material Consumption and 
Waste Management

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by 
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in 
’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 
volume, per facility). 

Environmental Performance
— Emission and Energy 

Conservation

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. 
per unit of production volume, per facility).

Not material to the Group’s business

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives 
and results achieved.

Environmental Performance
— Emission and Energy 

Conservation

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in 
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

Not material to the Group’s business

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished 
products.

Environmental Performance
— Material Consumption and 

Waste Management

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant 

impact on the environment and natural 
resources.

Environmental Performance
— Natural Resources and 

Environment

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities 
on the environment and natural resources and 
the actions taken to manage them.

Not applicable to the Group’s 
business
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Disclosure, Aspects, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description FY 2019 ESG Report

B. Social
Aspect B1 Employment
General Disclosure Information on: 

(a) the policies; and 
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations 

that have a significant impact on the issuer 

relating to compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest 
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Social Performance: 
Employment and Labour Practices

— Employment and Labour 
Standard

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, 
age group and geographical region.

Social Performance: 
Employment and Labour Practices

— Employment and Labour 
Standard

Aspect B2 Health and Safety
General Disclosure Information on: 

(a) the policies; and 
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations 

that have a significant impact on the issuer 

relating to providing a safe working environment 
and protecting employees from occupational 
hazards.

Social Performance: 
Employment and Labour Practices

— Health and Safety

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety 
measures adopted, how they are implemented 
and monitored.

Social Performance: 
Employment and Labour Practices

— Health and Safety

Aspect B3: Development and Training
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge 

and skills for discharging duties at work. 
Description of training activities.

Social Performance: 
Employment and Labour Practices

— Development and Training
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Disclosure, Aspects, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description FY 2019 ESG Report

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
General Disclosure Information on: 

(a) the policies; and 
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations 

that have a significant impact on the issuer 

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

Social Performance: 
Employment and Labour Practices

— Employment and Labour 
Standard

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social 

risks of the supply chain. 
Social Performance:
Operating Practice

— Supply Chain Management

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
General Disclosure Information on: 

(a) the policies; and 
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant impact on 
the issuer 

relating to health and safety, advertising, 
labelling and privacy matters relating to products 
and services provided and methods of redress.

Social Performance:
Operating Practice

— Product and Service 
Responsibility

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped 
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Social Performance:
Operating Practice

— Product and Service 
Responsibility

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing 
and protecting intellectual property rights.

Social Performance:
Operating Practice

— Product and Service 
Responsibility

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and 
privacy policies, how they are implemented and 
monitored.

Social Performance:
Operating Practice

— Product and Service 
Responsibility
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Disclosure, Aspects, General 
Disclosure and KPIs Description FY 2019 ESG Report

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
General Disclosure Information on: 

(a) the policies; and 
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations 

that have a significant impact on the issuer 

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money 
laundering.

Social Performance:
Operating Practice

— Anti-corruption

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding 
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or 
its employees during the reporting period and 
the outcomes of the cases.

Social Performance:
Operating Practice

— Anti-corruption

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented 
and monitored.

Social Performance:
Operating Practice

— Anti-corruption

Aspect B8: Community Investment
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to 

understand the needs of the communities where 
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities 
take into consideration the communities’ 
interests.

Social Performance:
Community Investment

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to 
the focus area.

Social Performance:
Community Investment
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UNIVERSE PRINTSHOP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Universe Printshop Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 56 to 117, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 March 2019, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 March 2019 and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Statement Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountant (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to notes 4(g)(ii), 5(b), 17(b) and 26(a) to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had trade receivables amounting to HK$12,175,074. The Group has applied HKFRS 9 
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) on 1 April 2018 and assessed impairment for these receivables based on simplified 
approach of the expected credit losses (“ECL”) model. Loss allowance for expected credit losses amounting to HK$483,588 
has been made for the trade receivables as at 31 March 2019.

Assessing expected credit losses on trade receivables is a subjective area as it requires application of judgment and uses of 
estimates. Judgment is applied in determining ECL provisioning methodology. In this regard, management considers factors 
including the ageing of trade debtors and past credit loss experience as well as those relevant forward-looking information 
and how it has impact on the historical data. These require significant judgment by the management.

We have identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key audit matter due to considerable amount of 
judgment and estimation being required in conducting impairment assessment as mentioned in the foregoing paragraph.

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment of expected credit losses on trade receivables included:

• Understanding and evaluating the key controls over monitoring credit assessment of customers including granting of 
credit period;

• Assessing whether the Group’s impairment policy is in accordance with the requirements under HKFRS 9;

• Assessing the factors considered by the management for determining ECL provisioning methodology which include:

• Challenging management in applying the ageing of trade receivables and past credit loss experience in doing 
their assessment; and

• Assessing how reasonably management has incorporated in their assessment forward-looking information 
including expected changes in economic and financial conditions which are expected to cause a significant 
change in the customers’ ability to meet their debt obligations; and

• Assessing the amount of loss allowance made by the management including:

• Assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness of the estimation techniques, inputs and assumptions used 
by the management to determine the loss allowance amount;

• Checking management’s calculations of expected cash shortfall and impairment allowance; and

• Inquiring management for the status of individual overdue debtor balances and understanding the trading history 
and the historical and post year end payment records of the debtors.
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OTHER MATTER

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2018 were audited by another auditor who expressed 
an unmodified opinion on those statements on 21 June 2018.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the 
directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This 
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do 
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

— identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.

— evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

— conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

— evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

— obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Ming Wai
Practising Certificate Number P05682
Hong Kong, 24 June 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2019 2018
Note HK$ HK$

Revenue 6 152,725,342 142,583,126
Cost of sales (124,389,998) (107,425,947)

Gross profit 28,335,344 35,157,179
Other income 7 1,378,546 1,083,028
Other gains or losses 7 153,119 678
Selling and administrative expenses (35,859,859) (44,315,484)

Loss from operations (5,992,850) (8,074,599)
Finance costs 8(a) (243,747) (320,965)

Loss before taxation 8 (6,236,597) (8,395,564)
Income tax credit/(expense) 9 901,341 (758,312)

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year attributable 
to owners of the Company (5,335,256) (9,153,876)

HK cents HK cents

Loss per share 12
Basic and diluted (0.59) (1.35)

The notes on pages 61 to 117 form part of these financial statements.
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As at 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019 2018
Note HK$ HK$

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 23,383,592 12,198,052
Intangible assets 14 257,649 337,594
Deposits for acquisition of non-current assets 124,500 124,500
Deferred tax assets 22 237,413 —

24,003,154 12,660,146

Current assets
Inventories 16 3,335,951 5,477,619
Trade and other receivables, prepayments and deposits 17 14,909,453 14,137,858
Prepaid tax 467,014 —
Cash and cash equivalents 18(a) 36,526,379 68,202,560

55,238,797 87,818,037

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 21,453,855 36,189,667
Contract liabilities 20 1,712,175 —
Obligations under finance leases 21 1,186,151 1,090,581
Provision for reinstatement cost 23 220,000 240,000
Current taxation 594,945 1,929,859

25,167,126 39,450,107

Net current assets 30,071,671 48,367,930

Total assets less current liabilities 54,074,825 61,028,076

The notes on pages 61 to 117 form part of these financial statements.



58 UNIVERSE PRINTSHOP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The notes on pages 61 to 117 form part of these financial statements.

2019 2018
Note HK$ HK$

Non-current liabilities
Obligations under finance leases 21 1,371,457 2,413,253
Deferred tax liabilities 22 387,106 963,305

1,758,563 3,376,558

Net assets 52,316,262 57,651,518

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 24(b) 9,000,000 9,000,000
Reserves 24(c) 43,316,262 48,651,518

Total equity 52,316,262 57,651,518

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2019.

CHAU Man Keung HSU Ching Loi
Director Director
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The notes on pages 61 to 117 form part of these financial statements.

Share  
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

Retained 
profits/

(Accumulated 
losses) Total

(Note 24(b)) (Note 24(c)(i)) (Note 24(c)(ii))
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

At 1 April 2017 104,005 19,973,995 — 8,083,148 28,161,148

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year — — — (9,153,876) (9,153,876)

Transactions with owners:
Shares issued for share swap between the Company  

and Universe Printshop Limited (note 24(b)(ii) & 24(c)(ii)) 133 — 20,077,867 — 20,078,000
Elimination pursuant to the Reorganisation (note 24(c)(ii)) (104,005) (19,973,995) — — (20,078,000)
Issue of shares under a share offer,  

net of issuing expenses (note 24(b)(iv)) 2,250,000 36,394,246 — — 38,644,246
Capitalisation issue (note 24(b)(iv)) 6,749,867 (6,749,867) — — —

At 31 March and 1 April 2018 9,000,000 29,644,379 20,077,867 (1,070,728) 57,651,518

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year — — — (5,335,256) (5,335,256)

At 31 March 2019 9,000,000 29,644,379 20,077,867 (6,405,984) 52,316,262
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The notes on pages 61 to 117 form part of these financial statements.

2019 2018
Note HK$ HK$

Cash Flows from operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 18(b) (12,928,532) 5,117,739
Tax paid (1,714,199) (173,337)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (14,642,731) 4,944,402

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment  

and intangible asset (16,039,919) (426,189)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 60,000 —
Interest received 136,442 370

Net cash used in investing activities (15,843,477) (425,819)

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital element of finance lease payments 18(c) (946,226) (931,054)
Interest element of finance lease payments 18(c) (243,747) (320,965)
Payments for share issue capitalised — (7,008,356)
Repayment of advances from related companies 18(c) — (798,700)
Proceeds from issuance of shares — 51,750,000

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (1,189,973) 42,690,925

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (31,676,181) 47,209,508

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 68,202,560 20,993,052

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18(a) 36,526,379 68,202,560
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Universe Printshop Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands 
on 27 April 2017 as an exempted company and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 28 March 2018. The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the 
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its 
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its 
principal place of business is Office F, 12/F Legend Tower, No. 7 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. 
Its controlling shareholder is Mr. Chau Man Keung, who is also an executive director of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The subsidiaries of the Company (together, the “Group”) are 
principally engaged in the provision of general printing services and trading of printing products. The principal activities 
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15.

2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following new standards, amendments and 
interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), which are 
relevant to and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on 1 
April 2018:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Clarifications to HKFRS 15)
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

Except as described below, the application of these amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no 
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the 
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 — “Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment 
Transactions”
The amendments provide requirements on the accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions 
on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments; share-based payment transactions with a net 
settlement feature for withholding tax obligations; and a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on these financial statements as the Group does not have 
any cash-settled share-based payment transaction and has no share-based payment transaction with net 
settlement features for withholding tax.
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2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”)
(i) Classification and measurement of financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (“HKAS 39”) for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for 
financial instruments: (i) classification and measurement; (ii) impairments; and (iii) hedge accounting. The 
adoption of HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018 has resulted in changes in accounting policies of the Group and 
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements for financial 
liabilities from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), 
where the amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in 
other comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, 
HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
However, it eliminates the previous HKAS 39 categories for financial assets of held to maturity financial 
assets, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The adoption of HKFRS 9 has no 
material impact on the Group’s accounting policies related to financial liabilities and derivative financial 
instruments. The impact of HKFRS 9 on the Group’s classification and measurement of financial assets is 
set out below.

Under HKFRS 9, except for certain trade receivables (i.e. trade receivables that do not contain a significant 
financing component in accordance with HKFRS 15), an entity shall, at initial recognition, measure a 
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs. A 
financial asset is classified as: (i) financial assets at amortised cost; (ii) financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or (iii) financial assets at FVTPL. The classification of financial 
assets under HKFRS 9 is generally based on two criteria: (i) the business model under which the financial 
asset is managed and (ii) its contractual cash flow characteristics (the “solely payments of principal and 
interest” criterion, also known as “SPPI criterion”). Under HKFRS 9, embedded derivatives are no longer 
required to be separated from a host financial asset. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument is assessed as 
a whole for the classification.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and it has not 
been designated as at FVTPL:

• It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that meet the 
SPPI criterion.
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2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)
(i) Classification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and it has not been 
designated as at FVTPL:

• It is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets; and

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that meet the 
SPPI criterion.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect 
to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income. This election 
is made on an investment-by-investment basis. All other financial assets not classified at amortised cost or 
FVOCI as described above are classified as FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial 
recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements 
to be measured at amortised cost or FVOCI at FVTPL if doing so, eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

The Group’s financial assets as at 1 April 2018 composed of trade and other receivables, deposits and 
cash and bank balances, which were previously classified as loans and receivables and measured at 
amortised cost under HKAS 39. These financial assets meet the SPPI criterion and it is the Group’s 
business model to hold these financial assets to collect their contractual cash flows. Accordingly, they are 
classified as financial assets at amortised cost and will continue to be subsequently measured at amortised 
cost upon the adoption of HKFRS 9.
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2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)
(i) Classification and measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

The following table summarises the original measurement categories under HKAS 39 and the new 
measurement categories under HKFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s financial assets as at 1 April 2018:

Financial assets

Original 
classification 
under HKAS 39

New classification 
under HKFRS 9

Carrying amount 
as at 1 April 2018 

under HKAS 39 

Carrying amount 
as at 1 April 2018 

under HKFRS 9
HK$ HK$

Trade and other 
receivables and 
deposits

Loans and 
receivables

Financial assets at 
amortised cost

13,705,795 13,705,795

Cash and bank 
balances

Loans and 
receivables

Financial assets at 
amortised cost

68,202,560 68,202,560

(ii) Impairment of financial assets
The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the Group’s impairment model by replacing the HKAS 39 “incurred 
loss model” to the “expected credit losses (“ECLs”) model”. HKFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise loss 
allowance for ECLs for trade receivables and financial assets at amortised costs earlier than HKAS 39. 
Cash and bank balances are also subject to ECLs model but the impairment is immaterial for the current 
period as the counterparties are reputable banks.

Under HKFRS 9, the losses allowances are measured on either of the following bases: (i) 12-month ECLs 
(these are the ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date); 
and (ii) lifetime ECLs (these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument).

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract 
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an 
approximation to the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has 
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and 
the economic environment.
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2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)
For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-month ECLs. The 12-month ECLs is the 
portion of the lifetime ECLs that results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 
12 months after the reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, the loss allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs. When determining whether the 
credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, 
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue 
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 
days past due ; and that default does not occur later than when a financial assets is 90 days past due.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the 
Group is exposed to credit risk.

Presentation of ECLs
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying 
amount of the assets.

Impact of the ECLs model
As mentioned above, the Group applies the simplified approach to measure ECLs which recognises lifetime 
ECLs for all trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. In addition, the Group applies the 12-month ECLs 
for other financial assets at amortised cost including other receivables and deposits.

No additional impairment for trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost as at 1 April 
2018 is recognised as the amount of additional impairment measured under ECLs model is insignificant.
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2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)
(iii) Hedge accounting

Hedge accounting under HKFRS 9 has no impact on the Group as the Group does not carry any significant 
hedge transaction.

(iv) Transition
The Group has applied the transitional provision in HKFRS 9 such that HKFRS 9 was generally adopted 
without restating comparative information. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new 
ECLs requirement, if any, are therefore not reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 March 2018, but are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position on 1 April 2018. This 
mean that differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from the 
adoption of HKFRS 9, if any, are recognised in accumulated losses and reserves as at 1 April 2018. 
Accordingly, the information presented for 2018 does not reflect the requirements of HKFRS 9 but rather 
those of HKAS 39 and thus, certain comparative information may not be comparable to the current period.

The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held has been made on the basis 
of the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9.

If an investment in a debt investment had low credit risk at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, then 
the Group has assumed that the credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial 
recognition.
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2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”)
HKFRS 15 supersedes HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, HKAS 18 “Revenue” and related interpretations. 
HKFRS 15 has established a five steps model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. 
Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at the amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method without practical expedients. The Group 
has recognised the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of 
retained earnings at the date of initial application (that is, 1 April 2018). As a result, the financial information 
presented for 2018 has not been restated.

(i) Timing of revenue recognition
Previously, revenue arising from sale of goods was generally recognised at a point in time when the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the goods had passed to the customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is 
recognised when the customer obtains control of the promised good or service in the contract. This may 
be at a single point in time or over time. HKFRS 15 identifies the following three situations in which control 
of the promised good or service is regarded as being transferred over time:

• When the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s 
performance, as the entity performs;

• When the entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example work in progress) that the 
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

• When the entity’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the 
entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into any of these three situations, then under 
HKFRS 15 the entity recognises revenue for the sale of that good or service at a single point in time, being 
when control has passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators that is 
considered in determining when the transfer of control occurs.

The Group’s contracts with customers for the provision of general printing services and trading of printing 
products generally include one performance obligation, which is satisfied at a point of time when goods are 
delivered to and accepted by customers. It is the Group’s policy not to accept returns of printed products 
which have been accepted by customers and no refund is allowed. The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not 
have a significant impact on the timing and amounts of revenue recognised by the Group from sale of 
printing products.
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2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) (Continued)
(ii) Presentation and disclosure requirements

As required for the consolidated financial statements, the Group disaggregated revenue recognised from 
contracts with customers into categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. The Group has also disclosed information about 
the relationship between the disclosures of disaggregated revenue and revenue information disclosed for 
each reportable segment. Refer to note 6 for the disclosure on disaggregated revenue.

The following table summarised the impact of adopting HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 March 2019:

HK$
Increase/

(Decrease)

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (1,712,175)
Contract liabilities 1,712,175

Total current liabilities —

Total liabilities —

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group reclassified these advanced receipts from customers 
previously included in trade and other payables as contract liabilities.

There was no material impact on the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 
31 March 2019.

Amendments HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Clarifications to HKFRS 15)
The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on identification of performance obligations; application of 
principal versus agent; licenses of intellectual property; and transition requirements.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on these financial statements as the Group had not previously 
adopted HKFRS 15 and took up the clarifications in this, its first, year.
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2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 April 2018 (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
The interpretation provides guidance on determining the date of the transaction for determining an exchange rate 
to use for transactions that involve advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency and the 
recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability. The Interpretations specifies that the date of the 
transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, 
expense or income (or part thereof) is the date on which the entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or 
non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

The adoption of HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 does not have any material impact on the consolidated statement of financial 
position and the financial results of the Group.

(b) New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new or revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, 
but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply 
these changes on the date they become effective.

HKFRS 16 Leases1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments1

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business3

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material2

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs  
2015–2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business Combinations; HKAS 12 Income 
Taxes; and HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
3 Effective for business combination for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 

1 January 2020

The directors anticipate that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy 
for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. The directors are currently assessing 
the possible impact of these new or revised standards on the Group’s results and financial position in the first 
year of application. Those new or reviewed HKFRSs that may have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements are set out below.
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2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(b) New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”)
HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations, 
introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases 
with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a 
lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a 
lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. Accordingly, a lessee should recognise 
depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability, and also classify cash repayments of the 
lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and present them in the statement of cash flows. 
Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The 
measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments and also includes payments to be made in optional 
periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or not to exercise an option 
to terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly different from the lessee accounting for leases 
that are classified as operating leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements 
in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to 
account for those two types of leases differently.

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of 1 April 2019. The Group intends to apply 
the simplified transition approach with the cumulative effect of initial application recognised on 1 April 2019 and 
will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption. The lease liabilities of leases previously 
classified as operating leases will be recognised on the date of initial application at the present value of the 
remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial 
application. The right-of-use assets will be measured on the date of initial application at an amount equal to the 
lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to those leases 
recognised in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial application.

The Group reviewed all of the Group’s leasing arrangements during the year ended 31 March 2019 in light of the 
new lease accounting rules in HKFRS 16. The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Group’s 
operating leases.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of approximately 
HK$10,236,787 as disclosed in note 27. The Group expects to recognise a right-of-use asset of approximately 
HK$9,742,938 and a corresponding liability of approximately HK$9,742,938 (after adjustments for prepayment 
and accrued lease payment recognised as at 31 March 2019) on 1 April 2019 in respect of all these leases.

On initial application of HKFRS 16, net current assets will decrease by approximately HK$7,951,194 due to the 
presentation of the lease liabilities as current liabilities.

Except for the above, other new or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective are unlikely to 
have material impact on the Group’s results and financial position upon application.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all HKFRSs, which collective term includes all 
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and 
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the 
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The measurement bases 
are fully described in the accounting policies as set out in note 4.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgment of 
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated 
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional 
currency of the Company.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together with unrealised profits 
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where 
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into 
line with those used by other members of the Group.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred 
and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The 
Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interests that represent 
present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement 
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing 
equity instruments in which case the costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value. 
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from 
new information obtained within the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) 
about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration 
classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest 
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any 
non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the 
subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were 
disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present ownership 
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s 
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling 
interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The Company controls an 
investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable 
returns from the investee; and the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed 
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment 
loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and 
receivable.



73UNIVERSE PRINTSHOP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other 
costs, such as repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the financial period 
in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost net of expected residual value over 
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

— Furniture and equipment 5 years
— Computer equipment 5 years
— Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term and 5 years
— Plant and machinery 4–10 years
— Motor vehicle 3 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s 
estimated recoverable amount.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets, or where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sale 
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

(d) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination is fair value at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows. Intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The amortisation expense is recognised 
in profit or loss and included in administrative expenses.

— Software 3–5 years
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(e) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(f) Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets at their fair value or, if lower, the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding lease commitment is shown as a liability. Lease payments 
are analysed between capital and interest. The interest element is charged to profit or loss over the period of the 
lease and is calculated so that it represents a constant proportion of the lease liability. The capital element 
reduces the balance owed to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integrated part of the total rental expense, over 
the term of the lease.

(g) Financial instruments

Policies applicable from 1 April 2018
(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) is initially 
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the 
transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation 
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirely when determining whether their 
cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

Policies applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the 
asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which 
the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at 
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method. Interest income, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on 
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, 
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. 
Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair 
value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily required to be 
measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets 
with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt 
instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, as 
described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial 
recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect 
to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income. This election 
is made on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at FVOCI are measured at fair value. 
Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of 
part of the cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL, 
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and interest income are recognised in profit or loss.
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(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

Policies applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on trade and other receivables and deposits. The ECLs 
are measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from 
possible default events within the twelve months after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are 
ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. The 
maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the 
Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference 
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the 
assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has 
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and 
the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that 
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative 
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward-looking information.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 
days past due.
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(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

Policies applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group consider a financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial 
asset is credit impaired includes the following observable events:

• significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

• a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

• it becoming probable that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

• significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse 
effect on the debtor.

The Group presumes that default does not occur later than when a financial asset is 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross 
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest 
income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

(iii) Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised costs are 
initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near 
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless 
they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 
designated as a financial liability at FVTPL, except where the embedded derivative does not significantly 
modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.
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(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

Policies applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
(iii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL if the following criteria are met: (i) 
the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise 
from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the liabilities are 
part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value 
basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial liability contains an 
embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 
value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for the 
gains and losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive 
income with no subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables and obligations under finance 
leases are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The related 
interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life 
of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v) Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

(vi) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to 
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria 
for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

Policies applicable until 31 March 2018
The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has elected not to restate comparative information. 
Accordingly, the comparative financial information provided continues to be accounted for in accordance with 
the Group’s previous accounting policies.

(i) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables, including amounts due from related parties, directors and shareholders, are 
initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts, except where the receivables are interest-free loans made 
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In 
such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

(ii) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables, including amounts due to related companies and a director, are initially 
recognised at fair value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the 
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(iii) Impairment of trade and other receivables
Trade and other current and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about 
one or more of the following loss events:

• significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

• it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

• significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse 
effect on the debtor.

If any such evidence exists, impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where 
the effect of discounting is material. This assessment is made collectively where these financial assets 
share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed 
as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are based 
on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeding that which would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

Policies applicable until 31 March 2018 (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for impairment losses 
recognised in respect of trade debtors included within trade and other receivables, whose recovery is 
considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded 
using an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered 
irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors directly and any amounts held in the allowance account 
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance 
account are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and 
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

(h) Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss 
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

• property, plant and equipment; and

• intangible assets

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is 
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease 
under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried 
at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset, discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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(j) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to 
be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service. Short-term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the employees 
render the related service. Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and maternity 
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plan
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when 
the services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination 
benefits.

(k) Income tax

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or 
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for 
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax 
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income or when they relate to items 
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.
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(l) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive 
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of economic benefits that 
can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated 
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits 
is remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of 
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(m) Recognition of revenue and other income

Policies applicable from 1 April 2018
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the 
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value 
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods or service 
may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if the 
Group’s performance:

(i) provides all the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;

(ii) creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

(iii) does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to 
payment for performance completed to date.

If the control of the goods or services is transferred over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the 
contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, 
revenue is recognised at a point of time when the customer obtain control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the customer 
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amounts receivable, discounted using 
the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest 
income is accrued separately under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing 
component which provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract 
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For contracts 
where the period between the payment and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, 
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical 
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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(m) Recognition of revenue and other income (Continued)

Policies applicable from 1 April 2018 (Continued)
Sales of goods
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point in time when the goods are delivered to and accepted by 
customers, taking into account any sales returns, discounts and rebates allowed by the Group. There is generally 
only one performance obligation. No element of financing is deemed to be as the sales are made with credit 
terms of 30 to 90 days, which is consistent with the market practice.

Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Scrap sale income
Scrap sale income is recognised when the scrap materials are delivered to the customers.

Policies applicable until 31 March 2018
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, 
revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when the customer has accepted the related risks and rewards of ownership of the 
products in accordance with the sales orders, and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Scrap sale income
Scrap sale income is recognised when the scrap materials are delivered to the customers.

(n) Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for services that the Group has 
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s 
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration 
is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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(o) Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary 
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management 
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of 
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments 
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature 
of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide 
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually 
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within next financial year are as follows:

(a) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after 
taking into account the estimated residual value. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant 
and equipment regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any 
reporting period. The useful lives are based on the Group’s historical experience with similar assets taking into 
account anticipated technological changes. The depreciation expense for future periods is adjusted if there are 
significant changes from previous estimates.

(b) Impairment of financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all relevant categories of financial assets requires 
significant judgment and estimation, in particular, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk and 
credit-impaired financial assets as well as the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 
determining impairment losses. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result 
in different levels of allowances.



86 UNIVERSE PRINTSHOP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for 
exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected life between the 
reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The Group considers reasonable and supportable information 
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative and 
qualitative information and also, forward-looking analysis.

Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are set out in note 26(a).

6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of general printing services and trading of printing products. 
The amount of each significant category of revenue is as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Revenue from contracts with customers  
within the scope of HKFRS 15

Timing of revenue recognition — At a point in time
— Offset printing 113,987,736 107,751,418
— Toner-based digital printing 9,485,052 9,722,825
— Ink-jet printing 23,928,586 18,304,134
— Other services 5,323,968 6,804,749

152,725,342 142,583,126

The Group’s customer base is diversified with no customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the 
Group’s revenue.

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed below.
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6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its business by business line. In a manner consistent with the way the information is 
reported internally to the Group’s senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and 
performance assessment, the Group has identified the following reporting segments:

Offset printing
The offset printing business is involved in the manufacturing and trading of printing products using the offset 
printing method. These products are either manufactured in the Group’s manufacturing facilities located in Hong 
Kong or outsourced to external sub-contractors for processing.

Toner-based digital printing
The toner-based digital printing business is involved in the manufacturing and trading of printing products using 
the toner-based digital printing method. These products are manufactured in the Group’s manufacturing facilities 
located in Hong Kong.

Ink-jet printing
The ink-jet printing business is involved in the manufacturing and trading of printing products using the ink-jet 
printing method. These products are manufactured in the Group’s manufacturing facilities located in Hong Kong 
or outsourced to external sub-contractors for processing.

Other services
Other services comprise miscellaneous services including the production of printing-related products such as 
pre-ink stamp making, the processes of which require the use of special equipment. Such services were largely 
sub-contracted to external sub-contractors. 

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the Group’s 
most senior executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable 
segment on the following basis:

Income and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales or income generated by 
those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or 
amortisation of assets attributable to those segments. Segment revenue represents revenue from external 
customers and there were no inter-segment sales between different segments during the year and in prior year.

Reportable segment profit excludes corporate income and expenses (includes finance costs) from the Group’s 
profit or loss before taxation. Corporate income and expenses are income and expenses incurred by corporate 
headquarters which are not allocated to the operating segments that mainly included rental expenses of office 
premises and directors’ remuneration. Each of the operating segments is managed separately as the resources 
requirement of each of them is different.
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6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment assets include all tangible assets and current assets with the exception of tax assets, cash and cash 
equivalents and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables and accruals, and 
other liabilities attributable to the business activities of the individual segments.

Information regarding the Group’s reporting segments as provided to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance for the years 
ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 is set out below:

Offset printing Digital printing Ink-jet printing Other services Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Reportable segment 

revenue 113,987,736 107,751,418 9,485,052 9,722,825 23,928,586 18,304,134 5,323,968 6,804,749 152,725,342 142,583,126

Reportable segment profit 799,664 10,514,966 2,522,555 2,494,013 1,426,421 1,782,410 523,642 869,299 5,272,282 15,660,688

Finance costs — — 219,969 289,578 — — — — 219,969 289,578

Depreciation 3,539,515 3,533,306 532,241 947,108 56,668 18,889 — — 4,128,424 4,499,303

Impairment loss 

recognised/(Reversal  

of impairment loss)  

on trade receivables 115,847 188,595 — — 118,607 (41,973) 48,714 — 283,168 146,622

Additions to non-current 

assets excluding 

defered tax assets 13,858,245 — 281,000 — — 170,000 — — 14,139,245 170,000

Reportable segment 

assets at the end  

of the reporting period 33,172,548 24,570,647 1,570,037 2,170,752 2,661,348 2,715,300 417,474 677,759 37,821,407 30,134,458

Reportable segment 

liabilities at the end  

of the reporting period 17,575,096 17,951,530 3,315,104 4,273,558 1,116,357 2,866,239 974,355 842,169 22,980,912 25,933,496
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6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Profit
Reportable segment profit 5,272,282 15,660,688

Corporate and unallocated income and expenses
Other income 310,224 31,966
Finance costs (23,778) (31,387)
Depreciation and amortisation (796,733) (594,997)
Listing expenses — (12,302,092)
Other office and corporate expenses (10,998,592) (11,159,742)

Loss before taxation (6,236,597) (8,395,564)

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Assets
Reportable segment assets 37,821,407 30,134,458

Unallocated head office and corporate assets
Intangible assets 257,649 337,594
Prepaid tax and deferred tax assets 704,427 —
Cash and cash equivalents 36,526,379 68,202,560
Other assets 3,932,089 1,803,571

Total assets 79,241,951 100,478,183
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6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities (Continued)

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities 22,980,912 25,933,496

Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities
Current taxation 594,945 1,929,859
Deferred tax liabilities 387,106 963,305
Other liabilities 2,962,726 14,000,005

Total liabilities 26,925,689 42,826,665

(iii) Geographic information

The Group’s revenue is solely derived from external customers based in Hong Kong, which is the location at 
which the goods were delivered. The Group’s non-current assets excluding deferred tax assets were located in 
Hong Kong as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

7 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Other income
Interest income 136,442 370
Scrap sale income 1,068,322 1,051,740
Sundry income 173,782 30,918

1,378,546 1,083,028

Other gains or losses
Net exchange gain 102,286 678
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 50,833 —

153,119 678
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8 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

(a) Finance costs
Finance charges on obligations under finance leases 243,747 320,965

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration)#

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans 1,362,249 1,373,800
Salaries, wages and other benefits 31,257,786 28,641,651

32,620,035 30,015,451

(c) Other items
Auditors’ remuneration 430,000 840,000
Cost of inventories recognised as expense # 124,389,998 107,425,947
Depreciation (note 13)# 4,845,212 5,041,003
Amortisation (note 14) 79,945 53,297
Listing expense — 12,302,092
Operating lease charges: minimum leases payments 9,095,524 8,740,806
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables (note 17(b)) 283,168 146,622

# Cost of inventories included an amount of HK$15,394,782 (2018: HK$15,555,277) relating to staff costs and depreciation expense, which 

amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in note 8(b) for each of these types of expenses.
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9 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

Income tax (credit)/expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income represents:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Current tax
Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 31,599 1,150,197
Over-provision in respect of prior years (119,328) (30,051)

(87,729) 1,120,146

Deferred tax
Credited to profit or loss (note 22) (813,612) (361,834)

(901,341) 758,312

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman 
Islands.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for 
the year. On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 
2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of 
qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25% whereas profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of 
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. The two-tiered 
profits tax rates regime is applicable to a nominated qualifying entity in the Group for its annual reporting period 
beginning on 1 April 2018.

Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Loss before taxation (6,236,597) (8,395,564)

Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at applicable tax rates (1,083,478) (1,385,268)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 401,809 2,160,934
Tax effect of non-taxable income (22,454) (61)
Over-provision in respect of prior years (119,328) (30,051)
Others (77,890) 12,758

Income tax (credit)/expense (901,341) 758,312
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10 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the 
Company (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
2019 
Total

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Executive directors
Mr. CHAU Man Keung — 830,000 100,000 18,000 948,000
Mr. HSU Ching Loi — 770,000 100,000 18,000 888,000
Mr. LEUNG Yuet Cheong — 677,000 50,000 18,000 745,000
Mr. WONG Man Hin Joe — 628,000 50,000 18,000 696,000

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. WAN Aaron Chi Keung * 144,000 — — — 144,000
Mr. CHAN Chun Kit * 144,000 — — — 144,000
Ms. SUN Yongjing * 144,000 — — — 144,000

432,000 2,905,000 300,000 72,000 3,709,000

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions
2018 
Total

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Executive directors
Mr. CHAU Man Keung — 720,000 210,000 18,000 948,000
Mr. HSU Ching Loi — 660,000 210,000 18,000 888,000
Mr. LEUNG Yuet Cheong — 600,000 115,000 18,000 733,000
Mr. WONG Man Hin Joe — 540,000 111,000 18,000 669,000

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. WAN Aaron Chi Keung * 1,548 — — — 1,548
Mr. CHAN Chun Kit * 1,548 — — — 1,548
Ms. SUN Yongjing * 1,548 — — — 1,548

4,644 2,520,000 646,000 72,000 3,242,644

* appointed on 26 February 2018
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10 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No director received any emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 
compensation for loss of office during the years. No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the 
years.

The Company did not have any share option scheme for the purchase of ordinary shares in the Company during the 
years.

The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the financial performance of the Group.

11 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four (2018: four) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in 
note 10. The emoluments in respect of the remaining individual are as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Salaries and other allowances and benefits in kind 544,000 478,000
Discretionary bonuses 40,000 40,000
Retirement scheme contributions 18,000 18,000

602,000 536,000

The emoluments of the one (2018: one) individual with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

2019 2018
Number of 
Individuals

Number of 
Individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 1

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management are within the following bands:

2019 2018
Number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 4 4
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12 LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share was based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of 
HK$5,335,256 (2018: HK$9,153,876) and the weighted average of 900,000,000 ordinary shares (2018: 
677,466,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2019 2018
’000 ’000

Reorganisation and capitalisation issue 675,000 675,000
Effect of share offer on 28 March 2018 (note 24(b)(iv)) 225,000 2,466

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 March 900,000 677,466

(b) Diluted loss per share

The diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share as the Group did not have dilutive potential 
ordinary shares for both years.
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture 
and 

equipment
Plant and 

machinery
Computer 

equipment
Motor 

vehicle Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Cost:
At 1 April 2017 519,540 517,413 27,041,738 418,685 — 28,497,376
Additions 179,470 14,644 170,000 46,195 651,000 1,061,309
Disposals (57,900) — — — — (57,900)

At 31 March and 1 April 2018 641,110 532,057 27,211,738 464,880 651,000 29,500,785
Additions 1,266,229 136,519 14,139,245 12,339 485,587 16,039,919
Disposals (46,000) — (84,300) — — (130,300)

At 31 March 2019 1,861,339 668,576 41,266,683 477,219 1,136,587 45,410,404

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 April 2017 (281,632) (190,319) (11,737,014) (110,665) — (12,319,630)
Charge for the year (139,085) (100,122) (4,499,303) (107,193) (195,300) (5,041,003)
Written back on disposals 57,900 — — — — 57,900

At 31 March and 1 April 2018 (362,817) (290,441) (16,236,317) (217,858) (195,300) (17,302,733)
Charge for the year (140,388) (118,928) (4,128,424) (109,541) (347,931) (4,845,212)
Written back on disposals 36,833 — 84,300 — — 121,133

At 31 March 2019 (466,372) (409,369) (20,280,441) (327,399) (543,231) (22,026,812)

Net book value:
At 31 March 2019 1,394,967 259,207 20,986,242 149,820 593,356 23,383,592

At 31 March 2018 278,293 241,616 10,975,421 247,022 455,700 12,198,052
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Certain plant and machinery and motor vehicle were held under finance leases and their net book value is analysed as 
follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Cost — Capitalised finance leases 4,413,906 4,413,906
Accumulated depreciation (3,578,780) (2,960,717)

Net book value 835,126 1,453,189

During the year ended 31 March 2019, addition to property, plant and equipment financed by finance lease was nil (2018: 
HK$651,000).

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software
HK$

Cost:
At 1 April 2017 —
Addition 390,891

At 31 March and 1 April 2018 390,891
Addition —

At 31 March 2019 390,891

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 April 2017 —
Charge for the year (53,297)

At 31 March and 1 April 2018 (53,297)
Charge for the year (79,945)

At 31 March 2019 (133,242)

Net book value:
At 31 March 2019 257,649

At 31 March 2018 337,594
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15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of subsidiaries of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Proportion of 

ownership interest

Name of company

Place of 

incorporation

Particulars of 

issued share 

capital

Group’s 

effective 

interest

Held by the 

Company

Held by a 

subsidiary

Principal activities and 

place of operation

Universe Printshop Limited Cayman Islands 13,334 shares of 
HK$0.01 each

100% 100% — Investment holding in 
Hong Kong

All in 1 Printing (Group) 
Limited

Hong Kong 10,000,000 shares 100% — 100% Investment holding in 
Hong Kong

Universe Printing Holdings 
Limited

Hong Kong 10,000,000 shares 100% — 100% Provision of general 
printing services and 
trading of printing 
products in Hong 
Kong

Print Shop Limited Hong Kong 10,000,000 shares 100% — 100% Provision of printing 
services and 
solutions in Hong 
Kong

Startec Colour Separation 
Printing Limited

Hong Kong 10,000,000 shares 100% — 100% Provision of printing 
services and 
solutions in Hong 
Kong

Net Printshop Limited Hong Kong 100,000 shares 100% — 100% Provision of printing 
services and 
solutions in Hong 
Kong
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16 INVENTORIES

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Raw materials 1,704,275 2,000,679
Work in progress 425,938 1,201,276
Finished goods 615,773 1,690,815
Consumable stores 589,965 584,849

3,335,951 5,477,619

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Trade receivables 12,175,074 12,580,926
Less: Loss allowance (note 17(b)) (483,588) (200,420)

11,691,486 12,380,506
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 3,217,967 1,757,352

14,909,453 14,137,858
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The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit or loss is as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Carrying amount of inventories sold 124,389,998 107,425,947

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

(a) Ageing analysis

At 31 March 2019, the ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on invoice date and net of allowance for 
doubtful debts, is as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Within 1 month 5,079,009 4,713,061
1 to 2 months 2,919,624 2,477,648
2 to 3 months 1,860,726 1,706,690
Over 3 months 1,832,127 3,483,107

11,691,486 12,380,506

Trade receivables are normally due within 30 to 90 days from invoice date. Further details on the Group’s credit 
policy are set out in note 26(a).

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is 
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade 
debtors directly.

The movements in loss allowance for trade receivables during the year, including both specific and collective loss 
components, are as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

At the beginning of the year 200,420 53,798
Reversal of impairment loss — (53,798)
Impairment loss recognised 283,168 200,420

At the end of the year 483,588 200,420

The Group measures impairment provision for trade receivables at the amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Further 
details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note 26(a).

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting policy stated in note 4(g).
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The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit or loss is as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Carrying amount of inventories sold 124,389,998 107,425,947

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

Prior to 1 April 2018, an impairment loss was recognised only when there was objective evidence of impairment. 
At 31 March 2018, trade receivables of HK$200,420 was determined to be impaired. The ageing analysis of 
trade debtors that were not considered to be impaired was as follows:

2018
HK$

Neither past due nor impaired 6,017,884

Less than 1 month past due 1,870,944
1 to 3 months past due 2,245,228
Over 3 months past due 2,246,450

6,362,622

12,380,506

Trade receivables which were neither past due nor impaired related to a range of customers for which there was 
no recent history of default.

Trade receivables which were past due but not impaired related to a number of independent customers that 
have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment 
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been significant change in credit quality and 
the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The other classes within trade and other receivables, prepayments and deposits do not contain impaired assets.
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18 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Cash at bank and on hand 36,526,379 68,202,560

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (used in)/generated from operations:

2019 2018
Note HK$ HK$

Loss before taxation (6,236,597) (8,395,564)

Adjustments for:
Finance costs 8(a) 243,747 320,965
Depreciation 8(c) 4,845,212 5,041,003
Amortisation of intangible assets 8(c) 79,945 53,297
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 7 (50,833) —
Interest income 7 (136,442) (370)
(Reversal of provision)/Provision for reinstatement cost 23 (20,000) 20,000
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables 8(c) 283,168 146,622
Provision for long service payments 19 352,090 308,563

(639,710) (2,505,484)

Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 2,141,668 (2,214,890)
Increase in trade and other receivables, prepayments and 

deposits (1,054,763) (3,498,353)
Decrease in amounts due from directors — 1,732,618
Decrease in amounts due from other related parties — 5,106,576
Decrease in amounts due from shareholders — 78,000
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (11,605,747) 8,174,232
Decrease in contract liabilities (1,769,980) —
Decrease in amount due to a director — (1,754,960)

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (12,928,532) 5,117,739
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18 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and non- 
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash 
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities.

Amounts due 
to related 

companies

Obligations 
under finance 

leases
HK$ HK$

At 1 April 2017 798,700 3,783,888

Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of finance lease payments — (931,054)
Interest element of finance lease payments — (320,965)
Repayment of advances from related companies (798,700) —

Total changes from financing cash flows (798,700) (1,252,019)

Other changes:
New finance leases — 651,000
Finance charges on obligation under finance lease — 320,965

Total other changes — 971,965

At 31 March and 1 April 2018 — 3,503,834

Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of finance lease payments — (946,226)
Interest element of finance lease payments — (243,747)

Total changes from financing cash flows — (1,189,973)

Other changes:
Finance charges on obligation under finance lease — 243,747

Total other changes — 243,747

At 31 March 2019 — 2,557,608
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19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Trade payables 16,052,301 16,387,137
Accruals 3,306,981 14,602,345
Other payables 42,870 18,417
Provision for long service payments 2,051,703 1,699,613
Receipts in advance from customers — 3,482,155

21,453,855 36,189,667

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Within 1 month 10,931,206 8,088,222
1 to 2 months 3,513,593 6,403,406
2 to 3 months 1,589,266 1,823,134
Over 3 months 18,236 72,375

16,052,301 16,387,137

The movements in provision for long service payments are as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

At the beginning of the year 1,699,613 1,391,050
Provision for long service payments 352,090 308,563

At the end of the year 2,051,703 1,699,613

According to Part VB of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (“the Ordinance”), the Group is liable to make long 
service payments to employees who are employed under the jurisdiction of the Ordinance and have completed the 
required number of years of service on termination of their employment, where the termination of employment meets 
the required circumstances as specified in the Ordinance.
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19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

A provision has been made by the Group based on the best estimate of the long service payments that are required to 
be made to these employees in respect of their service to date, less any amounts that would be expected to be met 
out of the group’s contributions to its defined contribution retirement schemes and mandatory provident funds.

A portion of the above provision is expected to be utilised after more than one year. However, it is not practicable to 
segregate this amount from the amounts payable within the next year.

20 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31 March 2019 1 April 2018 31 March 2018
HK$ HK$ HK$

Contract liabilities arising from provision of general printing 
services and trading of printing products 1,712,175 3,482,155 —

Movements in contract liabilities are as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

At the beginning of the year 3,482,155 —

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue during the year 
that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (3,482,155) —

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in advance of printing service 1,712,175 —

At the end of the year 1,712,175 —

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method and adjusted the opening balance at 1 
April 2018. Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, amounts previously included as “Receipts in advance from customers” 
under trade and other payables (note 19) have been reclassified to “Contract liabilities”.

Contract liabilities represent deposits received or advance billing from customers for provision of general printing 
services and trading of printing products. The amount of contract liabilities as at 31 March 2019 is expected to be 
recognised as revenue in twelve months.
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21 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

At 31 March 2019, the Group had obligations under finance leases repayable as follows:

2019 2018
Present value of 

the minimum 
lease payments

Total minimum 
lease payments

Present value of 
the minimum 

lease payments
Total minimum 

lease payments
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Within 1 year 1,186,151 1,377,920 1,090,581 1,377,920

After 1 year but within 2 years 1,132,240 1,201,998 1,041,795 1,201,998
After 2 year but within 5 years 239,217 242,324 1,371,458 1,444,322

1,371,457 1,444,322 2,413,253 2,646,320

2,557,608 2,822,242 3,503,834 4,024,240

Less: total future interest expenses (264,634) (520,406)

Present value of lease obligations 2,557,608 3,503,834
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22 DEFERRED TAXATION

The movements of the components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the financial statements are as 
follows:

Tax losses

Depreciation 
allowances in 

excess of 
related 

depreciation Total
HK$ HK$ HK$

At 1 April 2017 — (1,325,139) (1,325,139)
Credited to profit or loss — 361,834 361,834

At 31 March and 1 April 2018 — (963,305) (963,305)
Credited/(Charged) to profit or loss 1,937,900 (1,124,288) 813,612

At 31 March 2019 1,937,900 (2,087,593) (149,693)

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Represented by:
Deferred tax assets 237,413 —
Deferred tax liabilities (387,106) (963,305)

(149,693) (963,305)
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23 PROVISION FOR REINSTATEMENT COST

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

At the beginning of the year 240,000 220,000
(Reversal of provision)/Provision for reinstatement costs (20,000) 20,000

At the end of the year 220,000 240,000

Under the terms of certain operating leases in respect of properties entered into by the Group, the Group is required to 
reinstate the properties to the original physical conditions at the end of the respective leases. Provision is therefore 
made for the best estimate of the expected costs that related to the restoration of the alternations made to the 
properties.

24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Movements in the Company’s share capital and reserves

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Accumulated 
losses

Total  
equity

Note HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

At 27 April 2017 (date of incorporation) 24(b)(i) — — — —

Share issued for share swap between  
the Company and Universe  
Printshop Limited 24(b)(ii) 133 — — 133

Issue of shares under a share offer 24(b)(iv) 2,250,000 36,394,246 — 38,644,246
Capitalisation issue 24(b)(iv) 6,749,867 (6,749,867) — —
Loss and total comprehensive 

income for the period — — (12,745,550) (12,745,550)

At 31 March 2018 9,000,000 29,644,379 (12,745,550) 25,898,829

Loss and total comprehensive  
income for the year — — (2,265,063) (2,265,063)

At 31 March 2019 9,000,000 29,644,379 (15,010,613) 23,633,766
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24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Share capital

Number of 
shares Amount

HK$

Authorised:
At 27 April 2017 (date of incorporation) (Note (i)) 38,000,000 380,000
Increase in authorised share capital (Note (iii)) 1,962,000,000 19,620,000

At 31 March 2019 and 2018 2,000,000,000 20,000,000

Ordinary shares, Issued and fully paid:
At 27 April 2017 (date of incorporation) (Note (i)) 1 —
Issue of ordinary shares for share swap between  

the Company and Universe Printshop Limited (Note (ii)) 13,333 133
Share offer (Note (iv)) 225,000,000 2,250,000
Capitalisation issue (Note (iv)) 674,986,666 6,749,867

At 31 March 2019 and 2018 900,000,000 9,000,000

Notes:

(i) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 27 April 2017 with an authorised share capital of HK$380,000 divided into 

38,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each. On the date of incorporation, 1 share was allotted and issued at nil paid upon incorporation.

(ii) On 27 April 2017, the Company issued an additional 13,333 shares at nil paid. On 8 June 2017, as part of the Reorganisation as 

disclosed in note 24(c)(ii), the Company acquired the entire shareholding interest in Universe Printshop Limited, in consideration of which 

13,334 nil-paid shares were credited as fully paid.

(iii) On 26 February 2018, pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the Company, the authorised share capital of the Company 

was increased from 38,000,000 shares to 2,000,000,000 shares by the creation of additional 1,962,000,000 shares, ranking pari passu 

in all respects with the shares in issue as at the date of passing of the written resolution.

(iv) The shares of the Company were listed on GEM on 28 March 2018. On the same date, 674,986,666 of the Company’s new shares were 

issued through capitalisation of HK$6,749,867 standing to the credit of share premium account of the Company. Further, 225,000,000 

shares of the Company were issued at a price of HK$0.23 per share. The Company received net proceeds of HK$38,644,246 (after 

deducting listing expenses) in respect of the share offer.
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24 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium
The share premium account is governed by the Company Law of the Cayman Islands and may be applied 
by the Company subject to the provision, if any, of its memorandum and articles of association in paying 
distributions or dividends to equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity shareholders out of the share premium account 
unless immediately following the date on which the distribution or dividends is proposed to be paid, the 
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(ii) Capital reserve
The capital reserve represented the difference between the par value of the Company’s shares issued and 
the equity of Universe Printshop Limited acquired pursuant to a reorganisation completed on 8 June 2017 
in connection with the listing of the Company’s share on GEM of the Stock Exchange ( the “Reorganisation”). 
Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company issued 13,333 shares of HK$0.01 each to the then 
shareholders of Universe Printshop Limited in consideration of acquiring their equity interests held in 
Universe Printshop Limited. The difference between the then shareholders’ equity of Universe Printshop 
Limited over the par value of the shares issued by the Company was transferred to the capital reserve at 
the date of reorganisation.

(d) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by 
pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a 
reasonable cost.

The Group defines “capital” as total equity. The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital 
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders returns that might be possible with higher levels 
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to 
the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements in either the current or prior year.
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments at the end of the reporting periods are as 
follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Financial assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

— Trade and other receivables and deposits 13,527,412 —
— Cash and cash equivalents 36,526,379 —

Loans and receivables
— Trade and other receivables and deposits — 13,705,795
— Cash and cash equivalents — 68,202,560

50,053,791 81,908,355

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

— Trade and other payables and accruals 19,402,152 31,007,899
— Obligations under finance leases 2,557,608 3,503,834

21,959,760 34,511,733

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s 
business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the 
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank deposits and trade and other receivables and deposits. 
The carrying amounts of bank deposits and trade and other receivables and deposits represent the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these items. The Group has a credit policy in place and the 
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Cash is deposited with financial institutions with sound credit ratings and the Group has exposure limit to any 
single financial institution. Given their high credit ratings, management consider it is remote that any of these 
financial institutions and counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a 
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and 
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the 
economic environment in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from 
invoice date. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The ECLs on 
trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to ageing and past default experience of 
the debtor, current market condition in relation to each debtor’s exposure and time value of money where 
appropriate. The ECLs also incorporate forward-looking information with reference to general macroeconomic 
conditions that may affect the ability of the debtors to settle receivables.

The Group recognises lifetime ECLs for trade receivables based on ageing of customers collectively as follows:

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Less: Individual 
assessed loss 

allowance

Carrying 
amount under 

collective 
measurement

Weighted 
average 
lifetime 

ECLs rate

ECL loss 
allowance for 

collective 
measurement

Individually 
assessed loss 

allowance
Total loss 
allowance

Net carrying 
amount

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Not past due 6,509,668 — 6,509,668 0.00% — — — 6,509,668
Past due

1–30 days 2,037,203 — 2,037,203 0.03% 588 — 588 2,036,615
31–90 days 2,137,083 — 2,137,083 0.03% 617 — 617 2,136,466
Over 90 days 1,491,120 423,109 1,068,011 5.55% 59,274 423,109 482,383 1,008,737

12,175,074 423,109 11,751,965 60,479 423,109 483,588 11,691,486

ECLs rates are based on the past credit loss experience of the debtor. These rates are adjusted to reflect 
differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected, 
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are 
disclosed in note 17.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has adopted general approach to measure ECLs on financial assets including other receivables, 
deposits and other financial assets at amortised costs as disclosed in note 4(g)(ii). Under the general approach, 
the Group applies the “3-stage” impairment model for ECLs measurement based on change in credit risk since 
initial recognition as follows:

Stage 1: If the credit risk of the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
financial instrument is included in Stage 1.

Stage 2: If the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition but is 
not deemed to be credit impaired, the financial instrument is included in Stage 2.

Stage 3: If the financial instrument is credit impaired, the financial instrument is included in Stage 3.

The ECLs for financial instruments in Stage 1 are measured at an amount equivalent to 12-month ECLs whereas 
the ECLs for financial instruments in Stage 2 or Stage 3 are measured at an amount equivalent to lifetime ECLs. 
When determining whether the risk of default has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This 
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience 
and informed credit risk assessment and including forward-looking information. In particular, the following 
information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition:

• actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant change in the debtors’ ability to meet their debt obligations;

• actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtors;

• significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the debtors, including changes in the 
payment status of debtors; and

• actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment in 
which the debtors operate that results in a significant change in the debtors’ ability to meet their debt 
obligations.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days 
past due.

The credit risk of the Group’s other receivables and deposits as at the end of the reporting period has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition and the amounts of ECLs were insignificant and no provision was 
made accordingly.



114 UNIVERSE PRINTSHOP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed funding lines from major financial institutions to 
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s 
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the Group can 
be required to pay:

2019

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 
12 months 

or 
on demand

More than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

More than 
2 years but 

less than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Trade payables, and other  
payables and accruals 19,402,152 19,402,152 19,402,152 — — —

Obligations under finance leases 2,557,608 2,822,242 1,377,920 1,201,998 242,324 —

21,959,760 22,224,394 20,780,072 1,201,998 242,324 —

2018

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 
12 months 

or 
on demand

More than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

More than 
2 years but 

less than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Trade payables and other payables 
and accruals 31,007,899 31,007,899 31,007,899 — — —

Obligations under finance leases 3,503,834 4,024,240 1,377,920 1,201,998 1,444,322 —

34,511,733 35,032,139 32,385,819 1,201,998 1,444,322 —

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s has no significant exposure to interest rate risk as substantially all of the Group’s borrowings are 
fixed rate borrowings.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk as substantially all of the Group’s transactions are 
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

(e) Fair values measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are not materially 
different from their fair values as at the end of the reporting period.

27 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2019 not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Contracted for 2,544,630 124,500

As at 31 March 2019, the Group is committed to certain contracts for the acquisition of plant and machinery and 
intangible assets.

(b) Operating lease commitments

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are 
payable as follows:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Within 1 year 8,232,924 4,074,500
After 1 year but within 5 years 2,003,863 1,903,300

Total 10,236,787 5,977,800

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties under operating leases. The leases typically run for 
an initial period of one to three years, with an option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. Certain 
leases contain an option to early terminate the leases by giving notice to the landlord. At inception of the leases, 
the Group has no intention to early terminate these leases and thus the commitments disclosed in the table 
above has assumed the early termination option would not be exercised. None of the leases includes contingent 
rentals.
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28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered into the 
following material related party transactions.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

All members of key management personnel are the directors of the Group and their remuneration is disclosed in 
note 10.

(b) Transactions with related parties

During the years, the Group entered into the following material related party transactions:

2019 2018
HK$ HK$

Rental expenses paid/payable to the following related companies which are 
controlled by the same controlling shareholder

— Universe Printing Company Limited 2,880,000 2,880,000
— Universe Samfine Limited 108,000 —

Repayment of cash advances from the following related company which is 
controlled by the same controlling shareholder

— Startec Colour Separation Company Limited — 798,700

Purchase of motor vehicles from the following related company which is 
controlled by the same controlling shareholder

— Universe Printing Company Limited 295,587 —
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29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF HOLDING COMPANY

2019 2018
Notes HK$ HK$

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets
Investment in a subsidiary 15 133 133

Current assets
Other receivables 207,011 —
Amount due from a subsidiary 40,200,000 —
Cash and cash equivalents 118,811 47,111,776

40,525,822 47,111,776

Current liabilities
Accruals 150,000 10,647,794
Amounts due to subsidiaries 16,742,189 10,565,286

16,892,189 21,213,080

Net current assets 23,633,633 25,898,696

Net assets 23,633,766 25,898,829

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 24(b) 9,000,000 9,000,000
Share premium 24(a) 29,644,379 29,644,379
Accumulated losses 24(a) (15,010,613) (12,745,550)

Total equity 23,633,766 25,898,829

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2019.

CHAU Man Keung HSU Ching Loi
Director Director
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last four financial years, as extracted 
from the audited financial statements in this annual report and prior year financial statements are as follows:

Year ended 31 March
2019 2018 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 152,725 142,583 133,869 124,048

Gross profit 28,335 35,157 31,350 30,408

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive income for the year (5,335) (9,154) 3,391 5,267

As at 31 March
2019 2018 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 24,003 12,660 16,607 20,364
Current assets 55,239 87,818 42,677 24,206

Total assets 79,242 100,478 59,284 44,570

Current liabilities 25,167 39,450 26,901 35,938
Non-current liabilities 1,759 3,376 4,222 3,861

Total liabilities 26,926 42,826 31,123 39,799

Total equity 52,316 57,652 28,161 4,771
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